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PROLOGUE





THE SHIP


SHE WAS BORN FROM soil as American as the men who sailed her. Ore mined near the Great Lakes and in the Tennessee Valley. Transported by barge and train to steel mills in Detroit and Pittsburgh. Machined and welded and hammered together in Camden, New Jersey, by tradesmen from across the forty-eight states. From her keel—forged red-hot and laid in 1930—she rose amid clang and clamor and showering sparks, unfolding bow to stern in 147 bands of high-strength steel, her superstructure climbing toward the sun until, in 1932, she parted water for the first time and was christened USS Indianapolis.


Indy was grand but svelte. Franklin Delano Roosevelt made her his ship of state and invited world leaders and royalty to dance under the stars on her polished teak decks. When war came, many of the sailors she carried into battle were still teenagers. They slept in bunks three high, went to chapel on Sunday mornings, and shot dice on the fantail on Sunday afternoons. They danced to Glenn Miller and sang along with the Andrews Sisters. They referred to Indy as their first love and the Queen. At least one of their wives called her “the other woman.”


Indianapolis was the flagship of the World War II Pacific fleet—the largest naval fleet in the history of the modern world. Along her centerline she carried three 250-ton turrets, each hefting three eight-inch guns that could reach out eighteen miles to rake beaches, destroy pillboxes, and punch through the armor of enemy ships. Her hull bristled with two dozen 40 mm Bofors guns, some radar-aimed for lethal precision, along with thirty-two machine guns that could cloak a mile-wide circle around her in a hail of 20 mm rounds. From her decks, Fifth Fleet commander Admiral Raymond Spruance would build an island bridge that stretched west from Pearl Harbor to Japan and was mortared in the blood of nations.


By the summer of 1945, the Pacific war was churning toward its fiery climax. A new weapon had been born, a “destroyer of worlds.” During the last week of July, under the command of Captain Charles B. McVay III, Indianapolis delivered the core of this weapon to its launch point, completing the most highly classified naval mission of the war. Four days later, just after midnight, a Japanese submarine spotted Indy and struck her with two torpedoes. Three hundred men went down with the ship. As Indy sank into the yawning underwater canyons of the Philippine Sea, nearly nine hundred men made it into the water alive. Only 316 survived.


The sinking of Indianapolis was the greatest sea disaster in the history of the American Navy. It was also a national scandal that would bridge two centuries. There would be a controversial court-martial. An enemy witness. Lies and machinations by men of high rank. Broken lives. Suicides.


Decade after decade, the survivors would fight for their captain, battling to correct a vulgar injustice. As Indy’s story rolled forward, spanning thirteen presidents, from FDR to George W. Bush, it would inspire a filmmaker named Spielberg, an eleven-year-old boy named Hunter Scott, a maverick lawmaker named Bob Smith, and Captain William Toti, skipper of her namesake submarine. Men fought over her for decades, and no victor emerged for fifty years.


Indianapolis is a war grave now. But don’t think of her that way. Roll the film backward. Watch her rise.
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MARCH 18, 1945


USS Indianapolis (CA-35)


The Northern Pacific


A CRY WENT UP from the gun crew range-finders aboard the heavy cruiser Indianapolis: “Judy! Port side! Close aboard!”


It was a Japanese dive-bomber—a “Judy”—the third bogie of the day. The plane plunged from a slab of clouds, its long, glazed canopy glinting softly in the filtered morning light.


On the cruiser’s bridge, Captain Charles McVay had the conn, with Admiral Raymond Spruance tracking the action from his high bridge chair. Both men wore khaki shirts, tieless, and soft garrison caps. Through the bridge wings, McVay, who was forty-six, could see the ships of the task group surrounding Indy in a rough ring, prows cutting cobalt seas along the same axis. Sailing closest were sixteen aircraft carriers, including Bunker Hill, Essex, Enterprise, Yorktown, Hancock, and Franklin. Farther out, the battleships and cruisers steamed, with the whole task group making way inside the sheltering embrace of a destroyer screen. A fighter CAP (combat air patrol), about thirty-two planes, fanned out over the task group.


Indy was at Condition I, general quarters, with all hands at battle stations. Bugler Glenn Morgan stood near McVay, headphones clamped over his ears, ready to relay data from critical combat stations around the ship.


The Judy kept coming, a dark-winged pill swelling against the pale dawn. Morgan watched its approach and wondered if it was another suicider. The Japanese had been crashing their planes into U.S. ships for five months, since Leyte Gulf. Most of the fellows thought they were bonkers. What kind of nut would do that, Morgan wondered, intentionally crash himself into a ship?


The Judy hurtled in, its engine thrumming past Indy’s port beam toward a juicier target off her bow, the carrier Bunker Hill. Staccato gunfire burst like black popcorn flung across the sky as Indy’s 20 mm gun crews arced their barrels with the plane’s flight path. But the Judy snapped through the flak unscathed, and the pilot released a bomb. It whistled close to Bunker Hill but missed and pierced the sea close astern. The carrier returned fire, chewing into the plane with her antiaircraft battery. Morgan watched the bomber’s shredded carcass cartwheel into the sea.


It was “L-14 Day,” two weeks before the American landing at Okinawa. Task Force 58 was maneuvering at Emperor Hirohito’s doorstep, just a hundred miles off Kyushu, southernmost in the slim scythe of islands that formed Japan. A land of sacred pagodas and active volcanoes, Kyushu was also home to the Japanese naval arsenal and shipyard at Sasebo, as well as major steel and arms works in the city of Nagasaki.


So far, the Empire’s air reaction to Task Force 58 had been wildly aggressive. Attacks developed so swiftly that U.S. task force radar gave little if any warning. The clouds themselves seemed to spawn enemy planes, and a visual sighting by a close screen—quick, agile destroyers protecting the fleet—was often the first sign of menace. A day earlier, Japanese bombers had hit three carriers, but crews were able to patch the holes and keep their planes flying.


For the men of Indianapolis, fighting off single planes had become ordinary work. Since Spruance hoisted his flag aboard Indy in 1943, the crew of nearly a thousand had earned eight battle stars, not counting their last stop, Iwo Jima, where they’d helped tenderize the beach for the landing Marines.


Since his battle station was on the bridge, Morgan, a twenty-one-year-old Oklahoman, was always in the middle of the action—which is to say, the calm at the eye of the storm. Captain McVay and Admiral Spruance ran a quiet bridge, unlike the previous skipper, Captain Einar “Johnny” Johnson, a bantamweight officer who cursed loudly, cheerfully, and often.


Morgan had liked Johnson, but he wasn’t so sure about McVay, who’d taken command in November. Sure, he’d just won a Silver Star for courage under fire in the Solomon Islands. But Morgan still felt that McVay didn’t know much, and with his leading-man eyes and Pepsodent smile, the skipper also seemed a little snooty. The gossip was, he’d dated a movie star and married a princess.


Morning dawned in full. The air on the bridge tasted briny and cool, spring in the Northern Pacific. Morgan watched as the carriers went on offense, volleying waves of planes to strike enemy air bases at Kyushu. Launched singly, the planes formed up in swarms and arrowed toward the horizon, their props generating a low hum like venomous bees.


•  •  •


At intervals through the day, McVay reviewed the action report for Iwo Jima, which Yeoman Second Class Vic Buckett had typed up for his signature. The size and power of the force arrayed against Iwo Jima represented American naval power at its zenith. Buckett had recorded the bombardment of the island, which began in mid-February, as well as the weather: heavy rains had provided excellent cover for the surface fleet but played hell with the aviators. By February 19, the day of the landing, though, a high-pressure system had swept the squalls aside, and the Marines sloshed ashore under blue skies with a light northerly breeze.


McVay remembered watching hundreds of landing craft churn toward the beach. His sailors lined the rails, shouting, “Give ’em hell, boys!” Parked a few thousand yards offshore at Spruance’s order, Indianapolis supported the landing and subsequent infantry battle with more shore bombardment, which the action report showed in detail. What the report did not show was how the fighting ashore collapsed into chaos, the Marines mired to their knees in sludgy volcanic ash and mowed down by heavy machine-gun fire. Nor could it show the moment those saltwater cowboys staked the Stars and Stripes on Mount Suribachi in full view of the attacking U.S. fleet.


McVay remembered the moment vividly: the whole fleet blasting horns, ringing bells, sailors cheering and clapping and waving their Dixie cup caps. Some men said that when they saw that flag go up they thought of home and how it surely wouldn’t be long until they could sail back to their moms and sweethearts and the good old U.S.A.


The captain continued flipping through the thick sheaf of pages. The report noted that Indianapolis had taken no casualties at Iwo Jima and that the performance of her crew had been excellent. Satisfied, the captain scribbled his customary signature on the document: Chas. B. McVay, III.


•  •  •


Later in the day, Admiral Raymond Spruance emerged from the flag quarters for his daily laps around the forecastle, or “fo’c’sle,”I a superstructure just aft of the bow. Slim and tan, the admiral transmitted serenity, but his lucent blue eyes concealed an inward turbulence. At fifty-eight, Spruance vented his intensity as he had all his life, with physical exercise, usually dragging junior officers along, breathless. Sometimes he wore his khaki trousers, sometimes shorts and a T-shirt. Once, his chief of staff wrote home from the Marshall Islands that Spruance was “rigged out in a new pair of gaudy Hawaiian bathing panties.”


Alone this time, Spruance charged forward along the port side, passing the No. 1 turret. Indy’s crew was accustomed to his walks, and as he passed sailors polishing brass, painting, and swabbing decks, they greeted him—“Sir” or “Admiral”—with a respectful nod. He did not require that they snap to and render a hand salute. This was a ship at war, not a berthing inspection. While he insisted on efficiency, Spruance loathed commanders who burdened their men with ticky-tack formalities when there was important work to be done. On some ships, there was tension between an admiral’s staff and the ship’s company, with the staff seen as privileged intruders who made more work for the regular crew. There was none of that aboard Indianapolis. Spruance got on well with the reserved McVay just as he had with the more colorful Captain Johnson. He knew McVay to be the son of a rather difficult admiral, Charles B. McVay, Jr., a veteran of the Spanish-American War.


Today, Spruance was not content with hitting just the Kyushu airfields. He also wanted to hit Kure naval base on the island of Honshu, where an attractive chunk of the enemy’s remaining surface fleet swung at anchor. Some considered such tactics overkill, and Spruance had developed a reputation for it. An aide once objected that the admiral was going to “crack a walnut with a sledgehammer.” Spruance had peered over his reading glasses and said, “Roscoe, that’s the way to win wars.”


The admiral was famously unflappable, but found the attack on Pearl Harbor a shattering experience. Spruance revealed this only to his wife and daughter, then waited anxiously for Admiral Chester Nimitz to take over as CincPac—Commander in Chief Pacific Fleet. After the obscenity at Pearl, America’s Pacific Fleet leadership was demoralized. Spruance sensed that Nimitz would inject some sorely needed fighting spirit, and he was right. Nimitz proved bold, aggressive, confident. Energized, the Pacific fleet began to sortie out and fight back. Spruance was elated.


When he reached the foredeck, the admiral turned right and passed under the eight-inch gun barrels. A sea breeze ruffled his khakis and cooled his way. As he crossed the fo’c’sle forward, he saw a pair of sailors sitting near the gunwale. They wore Dixie cup hats, chambray shirts, and dungarees faded nearly sky-blue by a combination of sun and shipboard detergent. Spruance saw that the younger of the two men wore a cast on his right hand. Something odd protruded from the top. It looked like a wire. The admiral passed the men, hung another right, and walked aft along the starboard rail.


In June 1942, after Spruance engineered the surprise American victory at Midway, Nimitz lassoed him and made him CincPac chief of staff, then deputy commander, Pacific Fleet. Spruance quickly presided over a series of firsts: the first night carrier landing in naval history; the first to establish a rotation system for aviators in combat; the first to realize that the westward push toward Japan would require the creation of the most advanced logistics apparatus in the history of warfare. For Spruance, working for Nimitz had been an inspiration. Spruance considered the elder man one of the finest and most human characters he’d ever met. He was also the only man Spruance ever met who did not know what it meant to be afraid.


Now, with only Okinawa between his fleet and mainland Japan, Spruance saw no reason to alter his doctrine of overwhelming force. Shore bombardment of Okinawa was about to begin, with Indianapolis in the thick of it. The size of the landing force would be second only to D-Day at Normandy. Meanwhile, the Nazis were on the run in Europe, the Brits on the move in Burma, and General Douglas MacArthur—whose effectiveness, Spruance agreed with Navy Secretary James Forrestal, was mortgaged to his vanity—was rapidly recapturing the Philippines. The end of the Pacific war seemed just over the horizon.


Spruance completed a full lap of the forward superstructure and arrived again at the bow, where the two sailors were still sitting. Curious about the cast with the strange hardware, he detoured and walked over. Since they were at leisure, the men jumped to their feet and rendered hand salutes. Spruance glanced at the name stenciled on the younger man’s shirt. “Celaya, is it?”


“Yes, sir. Adolfo Celaya, sir.”


Celaya, who was seventeen, had joined the Navy out of the tiny, dust-swept desert town of Florence, Arizona. He’d seen a lot of brass aboard and had observed Spruance doing laps for nearly a whole year. But Celaya had never spoken to him, and he was a little nervous.


Spruance nodded toward Celaya’s hand. “What happened there?”


“Broke my hand, sir.” Celaya glanced at his buddy, Seaman First Class Mike Quihuis, who pressed his lips into a thin line to keep from smiling. He knew Celaya was hoping the admiral wouldn’t ask how he broke his hand.


On closer inspection, Spruance could see that the wire, about the gauge of an ordinary coat hanger, originated in the area of the boy’s thumb. It rose more than eight inches from the cast and ended in a loop, resembling nothing so much as an antenna.


Spruance caught Celaya’s eye and smiled. “You picking up Tokyo Rose on that thing?”


Celaya shook his head and laughed. “No, sir.”


The admiral smiled again, then turned away and resumed his course to starboard.


That evening, Spruance received updates on Admiral Marc Mitscher’s air strikes on the Japanese mainland. Mitscher commanded the fast carrier force known as Task Force 58. By day’s end, his pilots had bested 102 enemy flyers in dogfights over Kyushu and destroyed another 275 aircraft on the ground. The fighter CAP, or combat air patrol, shot down a dozen planes over the task force, and antiaircraft batteries splashed another twenty-one. The enemy had managed to score hits on two American carriers, Yorktown and Enterprise, but damage to Yorktown was minor, and the bomb that hit Enterprise failed to detonate.


Meanwhile, the American sorties had yielded a bonus. Over the Japanese naval base at Kure, Mitscher’s pilots spotted the battleship Yamato in the harbor. Designed as a “supership,” Yamato was capable of fighting multiple enemy vessels at once. Lithe and muscular with minimal freeboard, the mighty vessel lurked low in the water, her vast superstructure bristling with guns. She was by far the Empire’s most dangerous remaining surface threat, and Spruance wanted her off the board. By hitting both Japan’s air and surface forces today and tomorrow, he hoped to disrupt interference with the Allied landing at Okinawa. Bitter experience had taught him that during the landing itself, his forces would be critically exposed.





I. Fo’c’sle is pronounced “fōks[image: Image]l.”
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MARCH 1945


Kure Naval District


Hiroshima Prefecture, Japan


HAVING COMPLIED WITH AN infuriating order to break contact with American naval targets and make for Okino-Shima, Lieutenant Commander Mochitsura Hashimoto drove his submarine back to Kure Naval Base and stormed into the office of the Combined Fleet commander in chief.


“We were within two hours of the target!” Hashimoto told a senior staff officer, referring to American ships anchored at Iwo Jima. “If another boat had been dispatched to Okino, we could have launched our kaiten!”


Hashimoto referred to the manned suicide torpedoes aboard his submarine, I-58.


The staff officer gazed back at him. “We didn’t realize you had gotten so close.”


For the thirty-seven-year-old sub commander, it was not close enough. The hour was late and the sea growing smaller. Fourteen hundred miles south of Tokyo, the Mariana Islands were hatching American bomber bases while hundreds of Allied ships heaped the islands with war matériel. U.S. squadrons at Saipan and Tinian were slinging B-29 Superfortress bombers into the sky, bound for the Japanese home islands. Only two weeks earlier, nearly three hundred B-29s had torched sixteen square miles of Tokyo, killing almost one hundred thousand civilians. Cannibal flames spread the stench of burning flesh for miles.
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Meanwhile, the enemy admiral Spruance had mobilized unprecedented logistics operations, pushing fuel, ammunition, and supplies westward. His superior, Nimitz, had established a forward headquarters at Guam and based his fleet there. It was not quite at Japan’s threshold, but certainly in her courtyard. Even the insufferable American general Douglas MacArthur had returned to the Philippines.


The outrageous order that sent Hashimoto speeding back to Kure and into the office of his commander in chief had pulled him from his own mission to Iwo Jima. Three weeks earlier, his two-sub attack group, Kamitake, was formed in the wake of utter failure by a three-boat group, Chibaya. In that group, the Japanese sub I-370 was sunk by an American destroyer, and another, I-368, by enemy carrier planes. Only one sub, I-44, returned to base—but barely. An American destroyer sighted her off Iwo Jima and laid on a relentless stern chase. Forced to remain submerged for nearly two days, she was unable to surface to recharge her batteries or vent to outside air. Her crew gasped like beached fish as rising carbon dioxide levels turned I-44 into a steel coffin. On the verge of suffocating his men, the captain abandoned the operation and limped back to Kure, where he was summarily relieved of command.


Immediately after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, the American submarine fleet was sent to take the fight to the enemy, buying time for the surface fleet to recover from its losses. American submariners therefore gained experience quickly and proved an effective fighting force, neutralizing much of Japan’s merchant and combat fleet. In contrast, the Imperial Japanese Navy had relegated its subs to resupplying men on isolated islands throughout the Western Pacific. By the time the Empire called on its sub fleet to face the American Navy late in the war, its commanders had little combat experience, and those who were competent had little patience for their less capable brethren.


Despite the Chibaya group’s failure at Iwo Jima, Hashimoto had held out hope for Kamitake. His own submarine, I-58, was one of the big new B-3 series, a landmark achievement in World War II sub technology. Boats of the previous B series boasted a range of fourteen thousand nautical miles. I-58’s range was half again as much, enough to press the fight against all Allied shipping, merchant or man-o’-war. Further, she was armed with the lethal Type 95 torpedo, a marvel of weaponry that used highly compressed oxygen as a fuel oxidizer. This increased the torpedo’s range to nearly triple that of standard U.S. torpedoes, while nearly eliminating any telltale air-bubble wake. Hashimoto’s torpedoes were the fastest in use by any navy in the world.


His boat was also fitted with the latest shortwave aerial. En route to Iwo Jima, it worked perfectly, sucking down transmissions between enemy ships. For a week, his seasoned crew played cat and mouse with America’s barbarian Navy better than ever before.


Still, Hashimoto could not deny the superiority of the enemy fleet, and his countrymen had begun to wonder about their adversaries. The Americans had industrial might, yes, but surely they could not match Japanese resolve. They were farm boys and schoolteachers and factory workers, without guile or cleverness—as easy to read as a child’s schoolbook. They would not fight to the death or sacrifice all as a Japanese would for bushido, the way of the warrior. Yet these same amateurs had nearly secured Iwo Jima. Before the war, when the Empire administered the little rock as a territory of Tokyo, only a thousand people had lived there. It was peaceful and bucolic, with one school, one Shinto shrine, and one policeman. Now the green volcanic diamond—less than eight hundred miles from Hashimoto’s home, from his wife and three sons—was another stepping-stone for the Americans to invade his homeland.


The battle for Iwo was nearing its end. There would be no surrender there, Hashimoto knew. Imperial generals had known they could not prevent an enemy landing, and Japan’s remaining air strength lacked the range to reach the island. So troops there had contracted into a defensive posture, hunkering in a meticulously prepared system of caves and trenches. The objective was not to win but rather to buy time to prepare for the home island invasion. What had once seemed impossible by then seemed inevitable. Still, on March 6, en route to Iwo Jima, Hashimoto put one eye to I-58’s periscope. He was determined not to give up.


Hashimoto’s broad, flat nose anchored closely grouped features, and his square head rode his shoulders like the turret on a tank. Grasping the periscope’s training handles, he turned the barrel slowly, his gaze arcing low over the watery chop. A broken overcast hung shroudlike over the dying light.


There! To the south. The silhouette of a large enemy warship.


He announced the sighting to his crew. It was an enticing target, but it was nearly night and the ship an hour distant. Hashimoto knew he could attack it only in the absence of moonlight, or risk being sighted and sunk. Were he to attack, any errant flash of lunar light might be I-58’s end. Hashimoto would not mind that, so long as he and his crew fought with honor.


Hashimoto had been the torpedo officer on a sub at Pearl Harbor, Japan’s masterful first strike against America. It had been a heady time to be a Japanese sailor, and afterward, the Imperial Japanese Navy (IJN) swept down the Pacific Rim, capturing a dozen major islands and territories from the British, the Dutch, and others. In the three years since, however, Hashimoto had managed to sink only a couple of minor vessels. Now the war’s end loomed and he wanted to bring home at least one major prize for the emperor. Not to do so would mean mentsu wo ushinau. He would lose face.


Hashimoto eyed his instruments. The warship was a tempting target, but I-58 was approaching enemy waters, and he did not want to repeat I-44’s mistake. It would be best to use this unhectored interval to recharge his sub’s batteries while there was still time.


He gave the order—that I-58 would recharge instead of attack—and sparked spirited objections from his crew.


“We are turning away from the enemy!” some cried. “Where is the honor in that?”


Hashimoto reminded them of I-58’s mission: She was equipped with kaiten—manned suicide torpedoes—best for attacking ships at anchor.


The next day, March 7, batteries fully charged, he proceeded toward a position seventeen miles northwest of Iwo Jima. With enemy lines of communication to the south and east, Hashimoto expected defenses there to be thin. He sailed on the surface and good fortune smiled on him: As his boat plunged through a line of squalls, curtains of rain slashed visibility to nearly zero.


Perfect, he thought. If the weather held, conditions would be ideal for operating the kaiten.


At 11 p.m. on March 8, he stood on the bridge as the sub made way, deck awash, sea foam exploding over the bow. He expected to reach the kaiten launch point at 2 a.m. His suicide pilots had finished their final rituals—belongings ordered, letters written home, final prayers offered at the Shinto shrine on board. The pilots were already in their cockpits when a series of enemy radar transmissions banged in. Signals shot in from three compass points—enemy destroyers, it was almost certain. The crew went quick-quiet and Hashimoto ticked through his limited options.


He could not dive out of sight—I-58 was still three hours from the launch point, the kaiten manned and coupled to the deck. Armed only with the suicide torpedoes and a small, deck-mounted machine gun, she was an offensive weapon only, virtually defenseless.


Quickly, he made his decision and addressed his men in a low voice: “If we are sighted, we will dive. For now, bring drinks to the kaiten pilots to keep them going.”


Sailors carried out the order, speaking only in whispers, guarding even their footfalls to avoid enemy sonar detection. Throughout the boat, stillness set in. From the mess deck, the smell of pickled fish crept through the quiet compartments, and Hashimoto pressed on toward the launch point, conning boldly through the rain.


An hour passed as he closed the distance to target. Two hours until launch.


Then, in the radio room, the urgent signal arrived from Japan. It was the outrageous order that would send Hashimoto storming into the commander in chief’s office at Kure:


KAMITAKE UNIT OPERATION CANCELLED—I-58 IS TO PROCEED FORTHWITH TO OKINO-SHIMA TO ACT AS WIRELESS LINK SHIP FOR COMBINED FLEET OPERATION TO BE CARRIED OUT MARCH 11.


Maddening! Hashimoto thought. Finally, we are at the Americans’ doorstep unseen, and they are turning us away!


He could not reply by signal as the transmission would lead to immediate discovery. But who was to say he could not first launch his kaiten, then plot a course for Okino-Shima? Perhaps he could still take a prize for great Japan. He was weighing this possibility when a second signal broke through. It was a personal message from the Chief of Staff Combined Fleet:


OPERATION “HA” IS VERY IMPORTANT AND YOUR ORDERS SHOULD BE FOLLOWED WITHOUT FAIL.


There had been nothing for Hashimoto to do but comply. He recalled the suicide pilots from the brink of immortality and followed orders, hating every minute of it. Now, leaving the C-in-C’s office at Kure, all he could do was await new orders to the Americans’ next target, Okinawa. If the enemy held true to form, the shelling there was soon to begin.


Hashimoto knew that any damage he might have inflicted on the enemy at Iwo Jima would have been small. Also, there had been those lurking American destroyers. It was difficult to say what would have happened to his boat if he had launched his kaiten in their presence.


But Hashimoto was certain of one thing: Above all, he had wanted to try.
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MARCH 19, 1945


USS Indianapolis


Pacific Ocean


Near Kyushu, Japan


IT WAS NOT YET four in the morning when Captain McVay ordered Condition I set in his antiaircraft batteries. The skipper always set Condition I, or “battle stations,” in the morning because that’s when the suicide planes seemed to be most active. Indy was operating sixty miles off the coast of Shikoku, the smallest island in the Empire’s homeland chain, due east of Kyushu.


Glenn Morgan had relieved the watch and was again on the bridge, wearing his headphones. He was a bugler, yes, a musician in love with newer music like Jimmy Dorsey’s “Tangerine” and Glenn Miller’s “String of Pearls” (he could play both perfectly on his cornet, which he had carried with him to boot camp, prompting his fellow recruits to holler at him to “go play that damn thing in the head!”). But Morgan had also fallen in love with the rhythms of a fighting ship at sea. The quartermaster barking at his strikers, boys who would be quartermasters themselves someday. The crisp calls of the OOD—Officer of the Deck—passed to the helmsman. Morgan had even learned to steer the ship himself and sometimes couldn’t believe he was allowed to, him, a Bristow, Oklahoma, boy, driving the flagship of the fleet.I


Morgan loved Indianapolis’s slim contours. Bow to fantail, she stretched 610 feet, with a beam of just 66 feet from the port rail to the starboard, and a draft of 17 to 24 feet, depending on her load. Indy was one of America’s eighteen “Treaty Cruisers,” the offspring of the heavy cruiser race between America, Japan, France, Italy, and Great Britain. Commissioned in 1932, she was subject to treaty displacement limitations that produced thinly armored vessels shipbuilders referred to as “tin clads.” But like Morgan, the men who sailed these lithe ships often fell in love with their speed and grace.


During his 1936 “Good Neighbor” cruise to South America, President Franklin D. Roosevelt hosted guests aboard Indy one evening. Well-dressed ladies dined in the wardroom that night and danced on the quarterdeck, a polished pool of gleaming teak. But none of the ladies could rival Indy herself. Her graceful rigging fluttered with banners and pennants. Hundreds of Japanese lanterns lit her lines, shimmering against a night sky of velvet blue. Just after dark, a full moon rose, its glow accenting her white peacetime paint. Officers who were there that night remembered not the ladies, but the ship. She was magical.


Morgan reported to Indy in 1944 and had been aboard for a couple of months when a kid named Earl Procai reported for duty. Procai, a nineteen-year-old from Minneapolis, was a bugler second class. With another new man, Donald Mack, that made four buglers aboard. That meant Morgan and his best friend, Bugler Second Class Calvin Ball Emery, could quit working “port-and-starboard”—twelve hours on, twelve hours off. It cut Morgan’s watchstanding in half.


Well, mostly. Morgan thought Procai was a very nice fellow, but he couldn’t blow his horn worth a hoot. When Indy was in port and Procai had the watch, one of the other buglers would scoot topside to play “Evening Colors.” They didn’t want the other ships to hear Procai’s halting, mangled rendition.


“Earl,” Morgan said to Procai one day, pointing to the man’s horn, “you’ve got to play this thing better.” He grabbed a bugle and took Procai down to steering aft. Thereafter, a couple of times a week, Morgan and Procai hunkered down in the heat, machinery cranking, practicing the bugle calls. The horse-race trills of “Reveille,” the regal notes of “Tattoo,” the mournful tones of “Taps.” Morgan played them all, and Procai echoed them back. The kid got to be pretty good and in the process, down there sweating it out in steering, the two got to be good friends.


As morning on the bridge unfolded, Admiral Spruance took station in his bridge chair. At 5:30 a.m., the carriers launched the CAP, followed by the first sweeps against enemy airfields at Shikoku and northwestern Honshu on the Japanese mainland. Shortly after 6 a.m., sunrise chased the night away, revealing the ships of the mighty task force as if raising a theater curtain.


At the conn, McVay ordered the OOD to maneuver on a general northeasterly line as the first enemy planes appeared in the sky. At 7:08 a.m., an enemy bomber nosed out of a cloud base at less than two thousand feet, and about a thousand feet dead ahead of the carrier Franklin. Indy’s bridge crew watched as the pilot accelerated in a masthead bombing run. Two bombs dropped from the fuselage and sailed in twenty-five degrees off horizontal, falling through the flak of Franklin’s guns. The first smashed into the flight deck in the center of thirty-one planes, burst into the hangar, and exploded. The second hit the flight deck, then penetrated the hangar, where it detonated over twenty-two parked planes.


The men of Indy could see a thick pillar of black smoke erupt from the carrier, with multiple red explosions bursting at its base. Sparks and fire triggered a massive gasoline vapor explosion. Planes that had been turning up for launch were flung violently together, and their whirring props sliced each other into strips. Fire poured across the flight and hangar decks in thick sheets, fed with fuel from ruptured aircraft gas tanks.


Against the backdrop of Franklin’s inferno, suicide planes screamed in, guns rattling. The heavy carrier Essex splashed one attacker. Eighteen minutes later, another plane dove on Essex, but missed and crashed close aboard to port. At 12:54 p.m., a Japanese Judy made another attack run on the crippled Franklin, but its bomb exploded short.


Soon the enemy turned its attack on Indianapolis. At 1:19 p.m., a Zero appeared on the starboard quarter, 4,500 yards out, altitude 4,000 feet. Adrenaline raced through the ship, an exhilarating cocktail of raw combat power and esprit de corps, spiked with a tincture of fear. Indy’s gunners opened fire.


The plane dodged into cloud cover, then shot out into blue sky again, now falling with a friendly fighter on its tail. A minute later, spotters picked up another enemy fighter circling the ship. Cries went up from the range-finder operators—“3,800 yards!” The trigger men locked onto the plane, tracing its killing path toward Indianapolis. Sixty seconds later, the fighter was diving toward Indy’s port quarter when one of the 5-inch gun crews blew off its tail, ending the pilot’s day. No time to rest, though, as another Judy zinged in for a third run on Essex. Again, Indy opened fire. The plane smashed into the sea on Essex’s port beam, but McVay and his gunners couldn’t tell whether they or one of the other American ships had shot it down. At 2:30 p.m., another Judy appeared directly over Indianapolis, at twelve thousand feet, flying port to starboard. The plane was later reported shot down, but the Indy bridge crew did not see it fall.


It was the last attack in a very busy day that dealt Spruance a significant blow. The Japanese had long targeted his heavy carriers, but with little success. Now they had hit five in a single week, with Franklin’s fiery agony in full view of the admiral’s seat on Indy’s bridge.


In the end, it was never a suicider, a bomb, or a torpedo that actually sank a ship. It was water. The interior of a warship is a honeycomb of watertight compartments segmenting the space inside her skin. Corridors called “passageways” run fore and aft and also, at intervals, traverse the vessel across the beam. These are interrupted by walls called “bulkheads,” into which watertight doors are built.


Each watertight door or “hatch” is equipped with a handle, or “dog.” When the door is shut and the handle turned tight, or “dogged down,” it renders the door watertight. Ladders connect one deck with another, and each point of connection is equipped with a “scuttle,” a small hatchway that can also be dogged down and made watertight. Compartments off passageways—such as machinery spaces, berthing, offices, chow hall, and the like—also have doors equipped with watertight seals.


Offensive weapons could only make holes in a warship. Fluid tons of seawater would then rush in to equalize pressure. When the weight of the water exceeded the ship’s buoyancy, down she went.


Miraculously, Franklin would not go down. Casualty reports from the crippled carrier streamed in to the flag staff aboard Indianapolis. The total number of men killed would reach 724, with another 265 wounded. With a thirteen-degree list and three feet down by the stern, the ship was taken under tow by USS Pittsburgh. Soon, though, she was able to cast off her tow and proceed under her own steam, having endured one of the worst fires any warship ever survived.





I. Though in overall command of the Pacific Fleet, Spruance alternated at-sea command with Admiral William “Bull” Halsey. Under Spruance the fleet designation was 5th Fleet and under Halsey, 3rd Fleet. The two admirals took it in turns, with one at sea and the other ashore planning the next operation. Indianapolis was Spruance’s flagship. Halsey’s were the battleships New Jersey and Missouri.
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MARCH 31, 1945


Imperial Japanese Navy Special Attack Unit


Kanoya Airfield


Kyushu, Japan


VICE ADMIRAL MATOME UGAKI stood on Kanoya airfield on Kyushu, watching as aircrews climbed into twenty-four Ginga bombers. The day was momentous. After establishing the Special Attack Unit, the “kamikaze,” as the last line of defense against the American invaders, this mission would be the unit’s first major test. It was a far cry from where Ugaki had been two weeks before, huddled in an air raid shelter on this same field as a great tide of enemy planes blistered his flight-line with bombs and bullets. He had not been afraid—just annoyed by all the damned noise.


Now he would strike back. Before him on the airfield stood the crews of five Kawanishi flying boats and four land-based bombers that would lead the formation, contributing advance patrols and weather reconnaissance.


Already, Ugaki’s search planes were keeping tabs on an enemy battle group, including its flagship, Indianapolis, now fifty miles southeast of Okinawa. The group had begun bombardment of the island, preparing to seize the last stepping-stone en route to the homeland invasion, and General Mitsuru Ushijima was charged with its defense. Most Okinawans lived on the island’s southern half, along green ridges thickly terraced with rice paddies and fields of sugarcane. Ushijima’s garrisons had enlarged and reinforced a natural network of caves, and also dug into a chain of slit trenches and bunkers concentrated around the southern capital of Naha. Ugaki was determined to come to Ushijima’s aid.


It had been a little over a month since Admiral Ugaki, who was fifty-five, took over Japan’s Special Attack Unit. On February 10, he was enjoying a bottle of sake when he received a telephone call summoning him before the emperor. Two days later, His Majesty received the admiral in audience at Fukiage Imperial Garden in Tokyo—albeit in an air raid shelter due to the menacing presence of an enemy plane. The forty-three-year-old emperor was a slight, bespectacled man. In his shy way, he honored Ugaki with kind words and personally assigned him to lead the kamikaze. It was a mission Ugaki understood as key to the fate of his nation.


By the spring of 1944, Ugaki had found himself shocked at the turnabout in the war. Territory after territory lost. The ominous attrition of matériel and men. Meanwhile, Allied forces were reaching peak strength, and Ugaki felt time was running out. His beloved commander, Admiral Isoroku Yamamoto, had predicted this result. In August 1941, the admiral, who had studied briefly at Harvard and had many American friends, ascended to commander in chief of Japan’s Combined Fleet. He appointed Ugaki his chief of staff. As Japan contemplated war on America, Yamamoto warned that since the Empire could not win, it should not provoke this Western leviathan. But once ordered to fight, Yamamoto, a brilliant strategist, put the full force of his intellect behind the effort. Having spent two years in Washington, D.C., as a naval attaché, he knew the American Navy well and once called it “a dagger pointed at our throat.” To counter that threat, Yamamoto engineered the surprise attack at Pearl Harbor.


But the admiral would not live out the war. In April 1943, U.S. intelligence received detailed information about his flight plans. Yamamoto would be aboard one of two planes departing Rabaul, New Guinea, on the morning of April 18. Ugaki would be on the other. At 7:30 a.m., a flight of sixteen American P-38 Lightning fighters intercepted the Japanese planes and shot both down. Yamamoto was killed, a small vengeance for Pearl Harbor. Ugaki, wounded but alive, vowed vengeance for his commander and friend.


Now, as commander of the Special Attack Unit, Ugaki had ramped up both special attack recruitment and training. American pilots had already decimated Japanese airpower. Now many of the Empire’s pilots were fresh from flight school, some still in their teens. Ugaki’s recruits were presented with the kamikaze concept, given forms to sign, and offered a choice: They could sign their names either next to the word “eager” or next to the words “very eager.” Some signed out of bravado, but others felt forced, some by peer pressure and some by ancient national traditions such as honor and love of country and family.


Some who had signed now found themselves standing before Ugaki about to make their final flight. The young men about to die had spent their last days quietly. They read and reread letters from loved ones and spent hours gazing at treasured photographs. They wrote letters home. Many tucked locks of their hair into the envelopes. Finally, they boxed up their personal belongings to be shipped to their families when they did not return.


Ugaki’s executive officer, Rear Admiral Toshiyuki Yokoi, thought the whole enterprise an enormous waste. When Imperial General Headquarters issued the unprecedented order that all armed forces should resort to suicide attack, Yokoi considered it nothing less than a national death sentence. He had studied the recent string of Japanese defeats and was working to improve land-based patrol methods, eliminate enemy surprise, and build up force protection at Japanese ground installations. To him and many other commanders, the suicide strategy proved that the High Command, panicked by a string of defeats, had abandoned cool military judgment and collapsed into wild gambling.


Doctrinally, Yokoi had never believed in the soundness of suicide tactics. First, there was the physics of the matter: A striking plane could not achieve sufficient velocity to pierce the decks of America’s capital ships, the largest and most important in the enemy fleet. Second, there was no way to measure success, since dead pilots could not report. Finally, the expenditure of life and matériel ran precisely opposite the goals of an operations staff, which is to maximize damage at the least possible cost.


But other senior officers agreed with Ugaki, whose thoughts had run wild seeking ways to save the Empire. Some kamikaze leaders said openly that they could afford to sacrifice two thousand men—that if just 30 percent of their pilots hit Allied targets, it would be enough. For Ugaki’s part, this calculus was not as cold as it seemed. He felt deep gratitude to the pilots who sacrificed themselves, and confided this to his most trusted confidant, his journal: “It is not because I am unfeeling that I can send our young men to die with a smile . . . ,” he wrote. “I had made up my mind to follow the example of those young boys some day.”
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MARCH 31, 1945


USS Indianapolis


Okinawa, Japan


ON MARCH 31, THE morning before Easter, Seaman Second Class L. D. Cox sauntered down Indy’s second-deck passageway toward breakfast. Cox, a nineteen-year-old with a round, open face and a gap-toothed smile, was nearing the mess hall when he ran into another sailor.


Cox stuck out his hand and introduced himself. The sailor grinned and gave Cox’s hand an exuberant shake. “Pole!” he said. “Pole’s my name!”


Cox’s eyes went wide. “Not the great Basil P. Pole from Hugo, Oklahoma?”


“Yessir, that’s me!” Pole said. Then he laughed and laughed, just as he did every day when he and Cox performed this same ritual. Cox laughed, too, shoulders bouncing as he continued down the passageway. He got a kick out of Basil P. Pole, but he was pretty sure that old boy’s elevator only went about halfway up.


Nearing the mess hall, Cox could already smell what was for breakfast: beans. He sighed. He wished right now he had some of his mama’s biscuits and gravy instead. On the other hand, he wouldn’t trade what he’d seen out here during the war. At Iwo Jima, he’d stood at the rail and watched the Marines stomp ashore. They’d been so close that if he’d looked through binoculars he felt he could have seen them fighting hand-to-hand. And when that flag went up on Mount Suribachi and the horns blew and the bells clanged, tears winked into Cox’s eyes and the hair on the back of his neck stood straight up.


Now they’d been bombarding Okinawa for a week. The percussion of the big guns hammered with such intensity that many crew members developed a ringing in their ears that would last the rest of their lives. It seemed to Cox on some days that a hundred hostile planes swarmed overhead. Air and sea fused in a hash of smoke, blast upon blast, ships’ gunners firing up, pilots firing down, opposing rounds slashing black Xs in the sky. Cox had seen enemy planes get nicked, their tails erupting in flame like trick birthday candles before they zoomed down to explode against the hard plate of the sea. Some had their control surfaces shot off and entered slow flat spins, pinwheeling down almost lazily to hit the water with barely a splash. Sometimes, surface gunners simply shredded planes in midair.


The persistent stench of cordite infused the crews’ uniforms, their skin, even their hair. The only respite came when the ship turned to a heading with a strong wind abeam so that the smoke of the guns could be carried overboard.


Cox thought it funny that he’d signed up for all this just to meet girls.


He’d graduated from high school only three years earlier—at thirty students, his graduating class in Comanche, Texas, was famously large—and attended two semesters at John Tarleton Agricultural College. But when he turned seventeen, Cox realized he was a prime candidate for the draft, so he thought he’d better just go on and volunteer. On the road between his family’s livestock farm and the college, every second telephone pole was plastered with a flyer that said, “Join the Navy, see the world!” Those flyers alternated with ones that said, “A girl in every port!”


That sounded good to Cox, and one midnight in 1943, he hopped an old train passing through Comanche and rode it to Dallas, where he raised his right hand. Another train slid him west to boot camp in San Diego, then it was on to Indianapolis, where he arrived at about the same time as Captain McVay.


The first time he laid eyes on Indy, Cox just stood and gawked. She was colossal. Sleek. Magnificent. He could hardly wait to get aboard. When he did, a chief petty officer assigned Cox to deck division and here he still was, six months later, doing the dirty work. Chipping paint, lugging stores, sweating in the mess hall scrubbing pans the size of the pig troughs back home. Now, he stepped one-two over the knee knocker—a watertight doorway with an oval-shaped, man-sized cutout to pass through—and entered the mess hall. He lifted his chin in greeting to three sailors, Lyle Umenhoffer, Verlin Fortin, and Troy Nunley, all hunched over their plates. Sure enough, breakfast was beans.


•  •  •


On the bridge, McVay ordered Indy released from formation and maneuvered to take station in column astern Salt Lake City, another heavy cruiser. During the weeklong bombardment leading up to D-Day, Indy and the fleet had fired more than five thousand tons of ammunition on targets at Okinawa. Now, underwater demolition teams reconnoitered the beach approaches while Mitscher’s carrier planes sanitized the island’s sandy skirts, laying lines of rocket fire.


McVay was the second generation of his family to fight at sea. His father, Charles B. McVay, Jr., fleeted up in an entirely different Navy, when U.S. warships proceeded mainly under sail, carried livestock as food stores, and during drills, repelled enemy “boarders” with pikes and cutlasses. The elder McVay fought first in the Spanish-American War, then commanded the armored cruiser Saratoga during World War I, along with a pair of battleships, New Jersey and Oklahoma. He then served as commandant of Washington Naval Yard, chief of the Bureau of Ordnance, and commander in chief, U.S. Asiatic Fleet. McVay Junior was seventy-six now and, in his retirement, had assumed the role of hanging judge. He delivered a steady stream of sharp-tongued verdicts on the younger McVay’s Navy performance and demanded that he cover himself with glory befitting an admiral’s son.


McVay felt the pressure, but he was charting his own course in a Navy modernized under President Theodore Roosevelt. An academy man like his father, McVay III was commissioned in 1920 and rose quickly to prestigious postings, including commanding officer of USS Luzon, the flagship of the Yangtze Patrol in China. An officer on the rise, he had proved himself a utility player, serving as naval aide to the high command in the Philippines, as skipper of an oiler, and as executive officer of the light cruiser Cleveland. There, in action in the Solomon Islands, he earned a Silver Star for gallantry. Before taking command of Indianapolis, McVay served as chairman of the Joint Intelligence Staff under the Combined Chiefs of Staff of U.S. and British forces, a group privy to most of the war’s deepest secrets.


As a leader of men, McVay’s manner was somewhat less formal than his father’s. He made it a regular practice to visit his enlisted men in their work spaces and ask them how things were going. Not in an inappropriately familiar way, but one that communicated his concern. The sailors’ feedback worked itself out in practical ways. When McVay learned that the morale and welfare folks were showing movies only for officers, he ordered movies to be shown for enlisted men, too. Once, he went down and had a meal in the enlisted mess. After he finished, he stopped in at the galley and told the cooks to start serving better food. He felt it was important for his sailors to know that they were as critical to the life and mission of the ship as his officers, and that he, their skipper, was looking out for them.


Now Indianapolis steamed ahead to a position eleven miles off an Okinawa beach called Zanpa, still astern Salt Lake City, about a thousand yards behind. There were no other ships in the formation.


•  •  •


In fire control aft, Cleatus Lebow held his cards close to his chest and fanned them out to take a peek. Liking what he saw, Lebow, a fire controlman third class, glanced up at his regular poker buddies—Murphy, Gaither, and Smitty. All four men were seated around a four-by-six steel box that held spare 20 mm gun sights. Someone had covered the box with a wool blanket.


Paul Murphy, also a fire controlman third, was the dealer this hand. Dark-haired, with an open, all-American smile, Murphy, of Chillicothe, Missouri, was one of those happy-all-the-time folks who’d never met a stranger. He reported to Indy just a few months after Lebow. Both men were twenty years old and had become good friends. Now, Lebow studied Murphy’s poker face, but the eyes weren’t giving anything away.


“I’m in for a nickel,” Lebow said in his heavy Texas drawl.


The other fellows hooted. It was a fairly rich bet, since there was a fifteen-cent per game maximum—money enough to buy three Cokes. Murphy and Smitty matched Lebow’s nickel, but Gaither folded. Lebow usually won these games and thought old Gaither probably didn’t want to give him any more of his money.


Lebow checked his cards. He slipped two from his hand and slid them facedown across the wool blanket to Murphy, who flipped him two more. Smitty took a couple of cards, and Murphy dealt himself one.


Lebow had been aboard since January 1944. With eight brothers and sisters, he was from a big, churchgoing family—which meant if church was open, the Lebows were going. Still, Lebow was no pacifist. As a gunnery range-finder aboard Indianapolis for most of the ship’s battles, he had personally helped treat Japanese defenders to the latest fad in the Pacific: the “Spruance haircut.” That meant total destruction, everything in sight laid low and burning.


Wagers circled the table again. “Call,” Murphy said, and pitched in another nickel.


One by one, Lebow ticked his cards down on the gun-sight box, followed by Smitty, who revealed his all at once. Murphy slapped his cards faceup on top of Lebow’s, his laughter bubbling like a soda fountain. “Read ’em and weep, boys! Read ’em and weep!”


•  •  •


Mike Quihuis glanced at the oddball cast on Adolfo Celaya’s hand. “Hey, Celaya, you still layin’ off the rednecks?”


“Nah,” Celaya said. “I ain’t scared.”


Celaya and Quihuis were walking down the port side, the skies for the moment quiet.


In 1944, with so many of his friends going off to fight the war, Celaya had decided to join the Navy. Since he was only seventeen, his father had to sign for him. After he reported to Indianapolis, Celaya made friends with Santos Pena and Mike Quihuis, who was also of Mexican descent. There were only a couple dozen Hispanics on the ship, a tiny minority in a crew of about twelve hundred.


In Arizona, being Mexican hadn’t been a big deal. In fact, it was a Mexican kid who had given Celaya his nickname, “Harpo.” The kid said Celaya’s puffy hair looked like Harpo Marx’s, and Celaya had decided to embrace it. But in the Navy, Harpo’s brown skin was a problem. From boot camp on, it seemed to Harpo that Navy recruiters had stacked the ranks with corn-fed rednecks from the middle and southern states. They called him “Pancho” and “wetback” and wanted to know when he was going to crawl back into that hole in Mexico he’d crawled out of. The rednecks didn’t care that Celaya’s family had been in America for four generations.


Quihuis and Pena were older than Harpo and tried to keep him out of trouble. But the kid was full of piss and vinegar, and having friends by his side only made him bolder. It didn’t hurt that Quihuis had once been the welterweight boxing champ of Arizona.


Increasingly, when the rednecks ragged Harpo, he ragged back. Then one day, after a big Texan spat out an insult, Celaya wound up a roundhouse and clocked him in the jaw. The Texan’s nose spouted blood and he crumpled to the deck. Pena, Quihuis, and several other men grabbed Celaya and held him back.


The Texan lumbered to his feet, towering over Celaya. “I’m gonna get you, you dirty goddamned Mexican! I’m gonna get you alone someday and kill you!”


Celaya had been too happy to be afraid. He had finally given it to one of those rednecks, and good. But when he looked down at his punching hand, he saw that he’d also paid a price. A shard of naked bone poked up through his skin.


Quihuis hustled him down to sickbay, where Indy’s chief physician, Dr. Lewis Haynes, examined Celaya’s hand.


“How did this happen, sailor?” the doctor asked.


“Slipped and fell, sir.”


Haynes got to work. He put Celaya’s hand in a cast and installed the wire contraption. It was an experimental technique Haynes had never tried before, a kind of traction. Celaya hopped off the exam table to leave, but Haynes stopped him.


“Yes, sir?” Harpo said.


Haynes leveled his gaze, but a smile pushed at the corners of his mouth. “Next time you hit someone,” he said, “close your fist.”


Harpo’s face flushed and he looked at the deck. “Yes, sir.”


Now, walking down the port side, Celaya told Quihuis he’d probably get the cast off in another week. At thirty-one years old with a wife and three kids, Quihuis was as much an uncle as a buddy to Celaya, who was still only a teenager. Quihuis agreed with Pena that the kid needed to watch his mouth. After Celaya decked that Texan, Pena had pulled him aside and whispered fiercely, “If you keep up that attitude, you won’t be around anymore.”


“What do you mean?” Celaya said.


“I mean, some night a bunch of those rednecks are gonna grab you and throw you off the fantail. That really happens! Is that what you want?”


Apparently, Harpo did not, because Quihuis noticed that he settled down some after that, despite his big talk to the contrary.


Suddenly, the high whine of props and acceleration hit Quihuis’s ears like a stinger. He froze, whipped his head skyward, and saw a suicide plane. It was headed straight for the ship.
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MARCH 31, 1945


USS Indianapolis


Okinawa, Japan


THE JAPANESE PLANE, an Army Peregrine Falcon, burst through the low overcast at 7:08 a.m., whining wide open. The 20 mm gun mount on Indy’s fo’c’sle unleashed a chatter of bullets. McVay charged out from the charthouse, shouting, “Who is that trigger-happy—?”


Then he heard the plane. McVay wheeled around and ordered general quarters—the signal for the crew to drop what they’re doing and prepare for battle. A boatswain’s whistle piped over the 1MC,I a one-way loudspeaker system that reached every compartment on the ship. “All hands, man your battle stations.”


On the port side amidships, Quihuis yelled one word at Harpo: “Run!” He wanted to put some steel between them and the suicide plane and sprinted down the port side, Harpo on his heels. They plunged through a hatch and down a ladder, sliding down the handrails on their armpits, feet never touching the rungs.


Edgar Harrell, a twenty-year-old Marine corporal from Kentucky, raced to the 40 mm gun mount on the fantail. He saw the plane screaming toward the ship. It appeared to be balanced on the twin pillars of fire streaming from its guns.


On the fo’c’sle, the “trigger-happy” 20 mm gunner, Buck Gibson, kept shooting. He saw tracer rounds piercing the plane and his parents’ faces flashed before him. Would he ever see them again?


On the mess deck, L. D. Cox heard the battle stations call, dropped his tray on the table, and flew out the door and up a ladder. He reached the main deck just in time to catch movement at the skyward edge of his vision. It was a suicider, and it seemed to be headed straight for him.


•  •  •


On the 40 mm gun, Ed Harrell was ready to shoot. He was waiting for the gun sights to connect to radar when the pilot changed course slightly, possibly deflected by Gibson’s gun. The plane now flew almost parallel to Indy, but then seemed to lose control. It veered left, dove, and slammed into the main deck aft with a thunderous sound, just inside the port gunwale, and a five-hundred-pound bomb dropped free of the wing. The crash tore a hole in the main deck, four feet by five, its outboard portion open to the air, like a bite out of the ship.


The projectile plummeted nose first through the main deck and drilled down through the ship, just three feet inboard of her skin.


The bomb punched a sixteen-inch hole through the second deck and kept falling. On the mess deck, Lyle Umenhoffer, Verlin Fortin, and Troy Nunley saw it crash through the overhead and pierce the deck eight feet from their table. The impact sprayed them in a maelstrom of beans.


The bomb continued banging down through the ship, smashing straight through a crew berthing compartment where Seaman First Class Tony King saw it fall right past his bunk. The bomb kept falling, drilling the first platform deck and cracking open the skin between frames 112 and 113 and spilling out into the sea.


Then it exploded.


The blast shook Indy with seismic force. A shock wave boomeranged back through the bomb’s exit hole, blowing its edges inward and tearing what had been a smallish rupture into a yawning hole, four feet high and five feet wide. Seawater and fuel oil burst up through the main deck in a geyser a hundred feet high. The explosion caused the ship to whip so violently that the abrupt movement snapped antennae off the foremast and knocked the planes from the catapults.


All over the ship, men fell against bulkheads or to their knees, doused in showers of grime and dust. Gear tore loose and clattered to the deck. The force of the blast ruptured portions of the deck, jacked others up at angles, buckled framing, and wrinkled Indy’s skin like the corrugated roof on a shed. On every deck, men heard the low, eerie groan of twisting steel.


The impact threw Cox into the air. The fantail plunged, and blue water washed across the stern. Seawater flooded the aft 40 mm gunmounts. The suicide plane still hung on the rail, like a malevolent insect. From the bridge wing, Morgan saw four sailors rush to the plane, lay their hands wherever they could, and give a mighty shove. Most of the plane tumbled over the side and splashed into the sea.


Indianapolis was rapidly taking on water. A voice blared over the 1MC: “Set Material Condition Afirm.” The call, which ordered the crew to secure all watertight hatches, reverberated belowdecks and echoed through every compartment.


Amid the mad scramble up the ladders was nineteen-year-old Troy Nunley, who had crawled out of the mess hall through a carpet of beans. He couldn’t believe he was leaving all his stuff behind in his locker—he’d said he never would—but he had to get out, had to. Water was rushing down the second-deck passageway like the Mississippi River. Nunley clambered up a ladder, men on his heels, and popped out into daylight in the center of a knot of sailors. They surrounded the hatch and were shouting back down—“Come on! Come on! We have to dog it down!”—urging the climbers up with wild gestures.


Nunley heard men calling up from below, chased up the ladder by the deluge. He turned and looked down into the hatch. He could see a man submerged to his waist and another to his chest. Adrenaline flooded Nunley’s body. He reached into the hatch and yanked up one man—the young bugler, Earl Procai, who was badly wounded—and then another.


The water was rising fast.


“We gotta shut it!” the men on the deck called. “We gotta dog it down!”


Nunley heard more voices from below—“Help! Help us!”


He heard another voice at his shoulder. “Water’s almost to the top! We gotta dog it down! Help us!”


But Nunley couldn’t. He knew it was either save the sailors below or save the ship, but he couldn’t shut the hatch on those men.


Next he heard a heavy clang, the hatch slamming shut. The voices below were severed, but Troy Nunley would hear them for the rest of his life.


•  •  •


In sickbay, Dr. Haynes and the junior ship’s physician, Lieutenant Junior Grade Melvin Modisher, were working furiously on the wounded when Harpo Celaya burst in waving his arm.


“Doc, you gotta get me out of this cast! They need me topside!”


Haynes turned from the man he was working on, sheared off Celaya’s cast, and sent him on his way. Post-attack musters revealed that eight men were missing, prompting officers and chiefs to organize search parties. There were twenty-one wounded, including Procai. Though Nunley had helped pull Procai clear of the flooding, the young bugler died of his wounds.


Meanwhile, Indy herself had sustained grave injuries, and the crew broke into damage control parties that sped like ambulance teams to minister to her wounds. Waterlogged compartments on the port side dragged her off-kilter, and she listed to port, eventually canting her decks seventeen degrees.


Spruance immediately expressed his suspicion that the Japanese pilot had targeted Indy, knowing she was the 5th Fleet flagship. He ordered his flag lieutenant to see whether a code book had dropped from the plane’s wreckage before it was pushed overboard. A search was made, but no code book was found.


The damage to the ship was too serious for repairs at sea. On the bridge, McVay ordered the OOD,II or officer of the deck—the captain’s direct representative on the bridge—to set course for Kerama Retto, an island twenty miles away. The Keramas had been the first islands Spruance ordered his forces to hit in the Ryukyu chain, part of his bold plan to secure both a seaplane base and a fleet anchorage in support of the main Okinawa invasion. The 77th Division, under Major General Andrew D. Bruce, had begun landings on March 26 and finally secured the Keramas just two days before Spruance’s own ship needed safe harbor.


At 10 a.m., escorted by USS Twiggs, Indy cautiously spun up her starboard screws and limped to Kerama Retto under her own power. Word from underwater demolition teams was that sharp reefs fringed the islands, with treacherous coral heads lurking scant feet below the surface. The twenty-mile trip took two and a half hours. McVay guided his stricken ship gently, and once in the anchorage, nudged her into berth K-66.


•  •  •


Late in the afternoon on March 31, Glenn Morgan stood at attention on the quarterdeck, a silver bugle in his hand. He felt as if some evil force had peeled open his chest and plucked out his heart. His best friend, Calvin Ball Emery, and his little buddy, Earl Procai, were among nine men killed in the kamikaze strike. Captain McVay had already ordered the colors lowered to half-mast and mustered the crew to render Procai his final honors.


Indianapolis’s officers and chiefs—the most senior enlisted men—stood in solemn ranks wearing long-sleeved cotton grays. Petty officers and below wore dungarees and chambray shirts. The formation bent in an L around a plain wooden box. Procai’s body lay inside. An American flag lay over the box, just large enough to cover the top.


From the quarterdeck, Morgan could see the Kerama islands, some so narrow they could be measured in yards. Procai was to be buried on one of those little slivers. It was so far from his home in Minnesota, Morgan thought. From his mother and father and sisters who adored him. From the Orthodox church where Procai had performed the Ukrainian “Hopak” dance on holidays. From all the things he had told Morgan he loved.


A Marine honor guard stood at the rail, and the detail leader barked a command. Morgan fell in line with the firing party and sounded “Officers Call” on his bugle.


“Crew!” an officer called out. “Parade rest!”


The crew took the stance and Father Thomas Conway, the chaplain, stepped up wearing vestments, a lector in his left hand. He spoke scripture over the boy and administered a rite of hope and consolation.


Conway called the men to prayer and they lowered their heads. Afterward, Morgan brought the crew to attention with a bugle call. Three times, the Marine detail leader uttered a deep command: “Aim . . . fire!” The honor guard fired three volleys into the sky over the rail. Then Morgan raised the trumpet and sounded “Taps” for his dear friend. It was one of the calls they’d practiced together.





I. 1MC is pronounced “One-Em-See.”


II. The OOD (pronounced “oh-oh-dee”) is the officer of the deck. A rotating crew of qualified officers take shifts or “stand watches” in this position, which is located on the bridge when the ship is under way.
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APRIL 1945


USS Indianapolis


Kerama Islands


FOLLOWING THE KAMIKAZE ATTACK, Spruance sent a message to Admiral Richmond Kelly Turner, commander of 5th Fleet’s amphibious assault troops. After months of planning and with twelve hundred ships ready to strike Okinawa, Spruance himself would be sitting D-Day out.


Until the kamikaze, the lucky Indy Maru, as the men called her, had charged across the Pacific at the head of the fleet, challenged but unscarred, trailing victory in her wake. Now, though, the crew’s seeming shield of invincibility was shattered. Worse, they were trapped in the Kerama Retto anchorage. Japanese doctrine called for sinking not the greatest number of ships, but the greatest aggregate tonnage. In a harbor filled with sitting ducks, Indianapolis was the prize bird.


Morgan found the whole thing unnerving, Indy swinging helpless on the hook and the venomous Japanese still buzzing around. “Since we’ve been anchored and disabled,” he wrote in his contraband diary, “we’ve felt as though we are living on borrowed time.” The crew had been warned not to keep diaries or journals lest they fall into enemy hands. But Morgan thought it would be all right since he never entered any secrets into print. “Air attacks from suicides continued last night and this morning, three more ships got hit. At first, being at war was adventurous, but after being hit, it is entirely frightening. Suicide boats are at night running in the harbor. A security watch is posted and a boat circling the ship all night continually.”


With Lyle Umenhoffer and others, Morgan had escorted two sets of bodies—in canvas bags stitched by Indy’s sailmaker—to one of the outlying islands for burial. On one trip, a Japanese boy ran up to him. He couldn’t speak English, except to chirp, “New York! New York!” The boy gave Morgan a wooden flute. He was a friendly little kid, a bright spot in a grim errand. Then a Marine warned the funeral detail that while the island was mainly secure, rogue Japanese snipers were still taking potshots. Morgan hotfooted it back to the small boat that had brought them ashore and got the hell out of there.


On the night of April 1, he addressed his diary entry to his wife, Mertie Jo. A pretty brunette with wide-set eyes and a Rita Hayworth smile, she’d married Morgan just after he graduated from boot camp. Morgan recounted to his wife the loss of Emery and Procai, who lived for only a few minutes after he was found. “It doesn’t seem possible that such a thing as this could happen. When you find out about it, my darling wife, I know you’ll feel as I do now, for you knew little Earl and good old staunch C.B., who many a time took my watch so I could see you.” Morgan ended the diary entry with his usual closing line, “I love you, Mertie Jo.”


•  •  •


L. D. Cox was ramming a slab of steel wool back and forth in a giant cooking pan, sweat streaming south in his collar. Beside him, a mile-high pile of pots and pans climbed toward the overhead, and steam snaked up from the deep sink to cook his face. Cox let go of the wool and flipped his palm up to look at it. The steel wool had chewed his fingers bloody.


After the plane hit, he’d been sent to the scullery, where he’d been scrubbing pots and pans for two days straight. He was about to grumble aloud when he remembered the dead boys they’d buried at Kerama Retto. He decided to stop feeling sorry for himself, picked up the scouring pad, and started in again.


“Are you Loel Dene Cox?”


Cox looked up to see an unusual sight—an officer in the scullery. “Yes, sir, I am,” he answered.


“I noticed in your record that you’ve had some college. Since that suicider, we’re shorthanded up in navigation. How would you like to move from deck division to navigation? You’d work up on the bridge.”


Cox tried not to sound too eager. “I’d like that, sir.”


“Well, son, drop that pan and follow me.”


Cox dropped the pan so fast and hard he imagined it ringing all over the ship, and in his mind, he licked that officer’s boots all the way up the ladder.


Up on the bridge, he found Admiral Spruance and Captain McVay, a couple of other officers, the bugler Morgan, a yeoman named Buckett, and Lieutenant Commander Kyle “Kasey” Moore, who had been his boss up until a few moments ago.


Now this is more like it, Cox thought, though he did think he detected the skipper giving his haircut an appraising glance.


•  •  •


A salvage ship, USS Clamp, had moored alongside Indy, and her chief salvage officer worked closely with McVay’s first lieutenant and damage control officer, Kasey Moore. Though “lieutenant” refers to a rank, “first lieutenant” is a Navy job title, and Moore’s included supervising maintenance of the ship’s hull. Now, in the wake of the kamikaze strike, Moore toured the hash of gnarled steel inside Indy’s skin and, with Photographer’s Mate Alfred Sedivi, snapped pictures to catalog the destruction.


Shortly after Spruance raised his flag on Indianapolis, he learned that Moore, of Knoxville, Tennessee, had been a respected newspaperman in civilian life. A staff writer at the Knoxville Sunday Journal, Moore had also traveled as a stringer for papers like the New York Times, taking expert photos to run with his stories. Spruance was keen to document American progress across the Pacific and quickly dubbed Moore “photographic officer.” From then on Moore, Spruance, and often Sedivi, boarded a Higgins boat and bounced into the beach of every conquered island.


Moore’s first trip ashore with Spruance was at Betio, Tarawa, and it marked him deeply. The island might as well have been hell. Crushed and blackened, the landscape wore the smell of death like a rotting skin. A thousand Marines and nearly five thousand Japanese had been killed. The stench was nearly unbearable and worked its way into Moore’s clothes so thoroughly that he later would not be able to get it out.


With Spruance and his staff, Moore picked his way through a sprawling vista of enemy corpses that stretched away like some grotesque landscape painted by a ghoul. Some Japanese had committed seppuku, ritual suicide, and their intestines protruded from their bellies in putrid loops. The images cemented Moore’s opinion that these men were fanatical warriors who would never surrender.


At Betio, Moore took his first pictures for Spruance, and the two would become good friends. Moore admired and respected the admiral more than any man he had ever known, loved his wry, quiet humor, and his dogged logic in the face of opposition. Of all the brass of whom Moore had taken pictures—Nimitz, Halsey, MacArthur, Fleet Admiral Ernest King—Spruance was one of the few who was reluctant to pose and never asked for copies. Along with Alfred Sedivi’s, Moore’s photos, processed in Indianapolis’s dark, cramped lab and absorbed into the Navy’s immense unbylined catalog, would become some of the most iconic of the Pacific war.


But neither man had had to document major damage aboard their own ship. Now, Sedivi snapped a series of pictures while Moore took notes. Wide gashes in the decks and skin laid Indy’s innards open to air and sea. Thick coatings of fuel oil clung to every surface. Multiple decks were jacked out of position, beams and framing buckled and twisted, bulkheads sheared from their stiffeners. Both the deep-sea dive locker and motor whaleboat hull had been destroyed. The explosion had also torn the No. 4 shaft completely off the ship, leaving another hole, two feet tall by six feet long.


After itemizing the destruction, Moore set an array of continuous watches. Sailors kept steady eyes on damaged areas, ready to report any signs of separation or weakening of bulkheads or watertight doors. Meanwhile, divers from Clamp worked to place soft patches over the holes.


•  •  •


On April 3, the admiral was striding across Indy’s mangled fantail when the chief salvage officer from Clamp walked up, crestfallen. “Sorry to report, sir, my men have dropped the propeller and it’s at the bottom of the harbor.”


The officer braced himself for a dressing-down, but Spruance said quietly, “That’s too bad.” Then he kept on walking.


This development did not dismay or surprise the admiral. He had chosen Indianapolis precisely because she was expendable. That was not the same as being substandard—in fact, far from it. Spruance had wanted for his flagship a quick, agile vessel powerful enough to defend herself, but with enough endurance to steam between the far-flung islands in this vast theater—perhaps the largest theater in the history of warfare. Whether his ship was taken out of the fight by the duties of command or by enemy fire, he had not wanted his withdrawal to weaken his fleet. Therefore, instead of setting up shop on a battleship or carrier, he had chosen a cruiser, and an aging one at that.


The plan now was for the ship to return to the States for repairs. The Okinawa landings had gone better than Spruance could have imagined, but he knew Japan’s ceding of the beaches meant fiercer fighting ahead. On April 5, Spruance shifted his flag to the battleship New Mexico. Before he and his staff trooped off Indy’s brow, the admiral pulled McVay aside and insisted that Indianapolis return quickly and resume duty as his flagship.
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APRIL 1945


Imperial Japanese Submarine I-58


Near Okinawa, Japan


ON APRIL 2, MOCHITSURA Hashimoto put to sea with the same kaiten crews he’d carried in his frustrated operation against Iwo Jima. Before his departure, he made a point of asking headquarters for detailed reports of the enemy’s positions off Okinawa. The Americans had already begun their bombardment there. Hashimoto was particularly keen to learn the disposition of American destroyer patrols off the island’s northern shore.


Okinawa’s airfields were just four hundred miles from Japan. Emperor Hirohito considered the island’s successful defense critical to achieving a negotiated peace with Washington and avoiding the shame of surrender. The garrison there had used their bare hands to extend a natural cave network into a labyrinth of trenches and bunkers. As at Iwo Jima, the strategy was to lie in wait, let the invading Americans come ashore, and then slaughter them wholesale. Japan’s military leaders hoped that if they could make America pay dearly enough for Okinawa, her leaders would judge the blood cost of a homeland invasion too high.


How had it come to this? Hashimoto wondered. He had been born in 1909, and by the time he was of age, Japan’s military was the pride of the nation. When he graduated from the naval academy and was commissioned in 1931, the nation boasted a robust economy and a string of war victories in Manchuria and China. This was as it should be, Hashimoto thought then. Was not Japan the land of destiny, chosen by the gods to lead the world? Was not even the emperor himself divine?


Now, as I-58 sailed south of Kyushu, a storm front crept in. Low dark clouds scuttled across the skies, and a gathering sea whipped and swelled. Hashimoto began to worry about whether he would be able to launch his kaiten. In this surge, they could broach and be destroyed.


The Type 1 kaiten—a name that means “the turn toward heaven”—was a modified Type 93 sanso gyorai, an oxygen torpedo. Each was small, less than an arm span across and about sixty feet long, and the fate of its pilot even more certain than that of the kamikaze. While the kamikaze might develop mechanical trouble and return to base, a kaiten could not redock with its mother sub. Once the pilot boarded the torpedo and closed the hatch, there was no escape. After launch, when the pilot reached final attack range, he surfaced to check his bearing and distance to the target via periscope and make any necessary adjustments. He would then submerge again, arm his warhead, and proceed on his final attack run. If he missed, he could make adjustments and try again. If he failed altogether, he could detonate his vessel as a last resort rather than sink to the sea bottom and slowly suffocate.


Though the kaiten’s creators both perished in failed underwater trials, IJN leaders had reason to see the project through. Japanese military planners thought the heavy, long-range projectile would give smaller vessels a mighty hammer with which to strike larger ones, such as battleships.


Hashimoto had not been able to launch kaiten since I-58’s first war patrol in January 1945. He remembered the send-off from Kure. As I-58’s virgin bow cleaved the harbor, the kaiten pilots sat on the converted hangar deck in their human torpedoes, swords held aloft, white headbands flying dashingly in the breeze. Hashimoto watched from the bridge as a festival of well-wishers in motorboats darted alongside, shouting good omens, prayers for success, and the names of these sailors about to sortie out and face the enemy. Beside the Japanese ensign flew another flag with the inscription “The Unpredictable Kaiten.”


On that patrol, Hashimoto had driven his boat to Guam, where he lurked eleven miles off Apra Harbor, lying to, waiting, dodging American ships and planes unseen. On January 11, thirteen minutes after surfacing, I-58 intercepted enemy radio traffic warning American ships that a suspicious vessel had been sighted.


Hashimoto tensed. Could it be us?


If it was, there was nothing he could do about it. His boat was two hours from the kaiten launch point off Guam. He pressed on.


An earlier air reconnaissance report had shown twenty large and forty small transports moored in Apra Harbor. No glorious targets such as an aircraft carrier or large man-o’-war. Inwardly, Hashimoto felt sorry for the kaiten pilots, that they were about to sacrifice their lives for mere consolation prizes. But he rallied their spirits and counseled them each to search for the largest, most heavily loaded transport they could find. He also reminded them that the recon report was nearly thirty-six hours old. “Perhaps an aircraft carrier has come in since the report,” he offered as encouragement.


Hashimoto and one of his navigators climbed up through the conning tower to the bridge and looked out over the gunnery deck where the kaiten were lashed to the hull. Billowing clouds sailed in a dark sky that shimmered with starlight. Two kaiten pilots reported to the bridge, both wearing only fundoshi, the traditional Japanese undergarment. Except for the ocean swell sluicing against the hull, silence spread across the moment.


One pilot gazed into the heavens. “Captain,” he finally said, “which is the Southern Cross?”


Hashimoto tilted his eyes at the sky but could not find the constellation. He turned to the navigator and asked him to point it out.


“The Cross isn’t showing yet,” the navigator said. “It will appear soon, though, to the south.”


The pilot showed no disappointment, but said simply, “We embark.”


The pilots shook hands and climbed down to their kaiten, followed shortly by another pair of pilots, including Lieutenant Ishikawa, a young officer of twenty-two. Hashimoto wished them luck and gave them orders to board their torpedoes. Their composure at that moment struck him and would remain with him for the rest of his life.


I-58 submerged, and at 2:30 a.m., Hashimoto gave the order: “Stand by to launch.”


The kaiten aligned their rudders with the submarine, and a half-hour later—ninety minutes before dawn—the launch began. Two suicide torpedoes shot into the sea, their pilots shouting, “Three cheers for the emperor!” just before their telephone lines were ripped from the mothership. A third pilot had communication problems and could not be heard. The fourth pilot’s telephone line was working, but he jetted away from I-58 without uttering a sound.


For the next ninety minutes, Hashimoto and his crew listened on the hydrophones for clues that their brave comrades had hit their targets. A periscope search to the east showed promise—smoke, perhaps. But then again, it might have been only a dark cloud. In the end, nothing was confirmed.


That night at the evening meal, Hashimoto and his officers prayed for the souls of the departed pilots. Afterward, they attended to the young men’s personal effects, which included each man’s Isho, or “death letter,” containing last thoughts. Lieutenant Ishikawa had written:


The day of decisive action together with three other men on board has arrived. We are all well and in good spirits. . . . Great Japan is the land of the Gods. The land of the Gods is eternal and cannot be destroyed. Hereafter no matter, there will be thousands and tens of thousands of boys, and we now offer our lives as a sacrifice for our country. Let us get away from the petty affairs of this earthly and mundane life to the land where righteousness reigns supreme and eternal.


Now, so close to Okinawa, Hashimoto hoped for better success. But as at Iwo Jima, harassment by enemy fighters and bombers had again rendered him unable to charge his batteries. On April 6, he reached the area west of Amami Shima and at 1 p.m. spotted a ship, its superstructure slicing into the horizon. Though he was still close to home waters, the enemy’s advance had shrunk the seas like a harshly washed garment. Hashimoto could not afford to assume the ship was Japanese. Instead, he ordered a dive.
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APRIL 6, 1945


USS Indianapolis


Kerama Islands


ON THE MORNING OF April 6, enemy planes grazed the Kerama Retto anchorage, then banked back toward the main surface force that was still shelling the beach at Okinawa. The Japanese first targeted the outer ring of destroyers on picket duty, then swept down on the flattops at the center of the fleet. As many as twenty planes would swarm a single ship. Antiaircraft gunners shot most of them down, but pilots who managed to slip through crashed decks and superstructures, igniting infernos like the one that had torched Franklin. In all, ten coordinated attacks, more than three hundred enemy planes, dove on the American fleet that day, the largest coordinated suicide attack of the war. Japanese pilots dispatched by Vice Admiral Ugaki sank two destroyers, a high-speed minesweeper, and two cargo ships, while damaging dozens more.


From Kerama Retto, Indy’s gunners could see oily smoke piling up over the horizon, the noise terrific even from a distance. At 4:41 p.m., they opened fire on an enemy plane sighted to the west. After nightfall, two more planes attacked Kerama’s southern anchorage. One was shot down, while the other crashed an ammunition ship and exploded in a sheet of flame that seemed to reach the heavens.


The men of Indy thought Kerama Retto—“Island Chain Between Happiness and Good”—a gruesome place and wished they could get the hell out of there. The scuttlebutt was that the ship would go all the way back to the States for repairs, but some of the fellows said only to Pearl Harbor. On April 7, McVay weighed anchor, and at first it seemed he might have to shoot his way out of the little harbor. Gunners spotted enemy aircraft in the area as early as 3 a.m., and an hour later commenced firing. But at a quarter past six, the senior officer present in the anchorage gave the all clear. A half hour later, McVay stood on the bridge, sending commands down to the engine room.


Down in engineering, Commander Glen DeGrave used engines No. 1 and 2, starboard only, since the No. 3 shaft was unusable and the No. 4 screw now lay at the bottom of the sea. At half past seven, Indy passed through the northern antisubmarine net and by 1:15 p.m. had rendezvoused with the thirteen-ship task unit that would see her safely to Guam.


At the same time, a few miles to the west, Admiral Spruance was about to check off another objective on his war plan: The Japanese supership Yamato was crumbling under the assault of hundreds of American fighter-bombers. Twin waves of U.S. planes swarmed the mighty vessel until she resembled from the air a mastodon set upon by a pack of predators. As she made her final death roll, the ship disappeared in a great flash of light. A column of red fire shot skyward, then melted into a boiling thunderball. Aboard New Mexico, Spruance got word: Yamato was down. Her death marked the worldwide end of the battleship era—and also of Japanese surface resistance in the Pacific war.


In Tokyo, Emperor Hirohito heard the news, and for him, Yamato’s defeat signaled the futility of pressing on with the war. His generals, however, did not agree. They would fight to the death, even if it meant arming schoolgirls with bamboo spears. The next day, Hirohito secretly charged his new prime minister, Admiral Kantaro Suzuki, with a new mission: find acceptable means of ending the war. Any means short of outright surrender.
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APRIL 1945


Alsos Mission


Stadtilm, Germany


NEARLY SIX THOUSAND MILES west of the emperor’s palace, another secret mission was nearing its climax. Army Major Robert Furman arrived in Stadtilm, Germany, to find that the Nazis had beaten him to his target by two days.


Furman was chief intelligence officer for America’s Manhattan Project. His mission was to learn how close the Third Reich was to developing an atomic bomb. Traveling with Samuel Goudsmit, a Dutch-American physicist, Furman landed in Stadtilm, a close-built village of steep-gabled roofs and Gothic church spires, on April 10. The pair had tracked to the town a man whose name was near the top of their target list of German scientists: Kurt Diebner, a physicist with the Heereswaffenamt, the weapons agency of the German army.


Furman and Goudsmit, key agents in a clandestine U.S. mission called Alsos, wanted to question Diebner about the state of the Nazis’ quest to build a bomb. But by the time they arrived, the Gestapo had already scooped up Diebner and other scientists and whisked them away to Adolf Hitler’s mountain fortress in the Bavarian Alps.


Pushing across Europe in the wake of advancing Allied troops, the Alsos mission had two main goals: to nail down the final truth about the state of German atomic science and to track down every last gram of fissionable material hidden on the continent. In Stadtilm, Diebner’s group had left behind a small cache of fissionable material in the form of pressed uranium oxide, as well as an atomic “pile,” or reactor. Goudsmit examined the pile and found it pathetically rudimentary. Added to the intel that had cascaded into Alsos all spring, the Stadtilm find was further evidence that the Nazis were years away from turning the doomsday theory of fission into a working weapon.


But mere evidence was not good enough for Furman’s boss, Major General Leslie Groves. The forty-eight-year-old general headed the war’s most closely guarded secret, America’s own bomb-building project, the Manhattan Engineering District. The specter of a German atomic weapon had haunted Groves since the summer of 1943, when Manhattan scientists working for him—including several German expatriates—raised the awful possibility.


There were signs. The Nazis’ heavy-water production in Norway, for example. There were also large missing caches of uranium ore, including boxcar loads that the Germans had seized in Belgium in 1940. And what of the news that Werner Heisenberg, considered by many to be the world’s foremost practicing physicist, was engaged in atomic research on Germany’s behalf?


Meanwhile, American atomic experts cloistered in covert labs at the University of Chicago, the Oakridge labs in Knoxville, Tennessee, and Los Alamos in New Mexico raised an even more chilling possibility. U.S. scientists had experimented with multiple ways of making fissionable materials, all complex and time-consuming, but all successful. Could that mean there might be other methods, too? Had they missed some tiny epiphany that would unlock the secret of a simpler fission, one the enemy had discovered already?


At times, the fear swirling around these questions nearly paralyzed U.S. researchers. Very little information about the enemy effort abroad filtered stateside. The Brits, who had entered the war with a superior intelligence service, passed along an occasional nugget. But they were war-weary, focused on driving back the Axis powers, and had little manpower to devote to the collection of intelligence in so new and narrow a field. Groves, though, was a determined man. He had been charged with delivering a functional atom bomb. If that meant setting up his own intelligence apparatus, then by God that’s what he would do. In August 1943, he began engineering foreign intelligence collection aimed at drilling down to the truth about the German atomic program.


That was when he summoned Major Robert Furman. A twenty-eight-year-old with cinnamon hair and a serious disposition, Furman already knew the general, having worked for him in 1941 overseeing the final stages of construction of the Pentagon. Furman had studied civil engineering at Princeton, where he became accustomed to spotting Albert Einstein’s wild mane floating across the campus like dandelion fluff. For many students, Depression-era Princeton was less a laurel than a refuge. With jobs scarce and their fathers out of work, they went to college to kill time. Furman paid for his own education by working side jobs—running a theater and managing a sandwich shop. After graduation, he suffered a series of employment setbacks as three jobs in construction and civil engineering fell through.


In 1940, he was called up for Army service, where he finally realized his dream of becoming a builder. During the Pentagon project, he worked under General Groves, who remembered Furman when he needed a key man who was both tenacious and discreet.


In early autumn 1943, Furman took a seat across the desk from Groves at his office on the fifth floor of the new War Department building on C Street in Washington, D.C. The general turned to open his office safe. Inside, Furman glimpsed manuals, stacks of paper, and, oddly, a little cache of hard candy. Groves extracted a book, opened it to the final page, and directed Furman to read the last paragraph.


The major saw that the text involved the potentiality of “fission,” the theory that all matter had an equivalence in, and was potentially convertible to, energy. When fission occurred layer upon layer, the theory went, in a kind of kinetic avalanche, it would produce an explosion of unprecedented magnitude. Furman was first exposed to atomic theory in the late thirties, while still at Princeton. In 1939, Dr. Otto Hahn of Germany’s Kaiser Wilhelm Institute had bombarded uranium with neutrons, achieving the first laboratory example of fission. Since then, Time and other publications had speculated about the possibility of ripening this nascent force into an apocalyptic weapon.


Furman finished reading the passage and looked up at Groves, whose eyes were bright with the expectation of shared revelation.


“Yes,” Furman said simply. He thought Groves seemed rather disappointed at his lack of surprise.


At that first meeting, Groves briefed Furman on the Manhattan Engineering District, as the project was technically known. The general explained that he needed to know what the Germans were doing in the atomic field. But he could not very well set up something so bold as a “department of atomic intelligence” without giving away the existence of the American program, even within the U.S. government itself. Instead, he wanted Furman to meet with the various intelligence agencies—Army, Navy, OSS (Office of Strategic Services)—and find out what those agencies knew without revealing why he wanted to know it.


Furman accepted the assignment and began a crash course in atomic science. Among his tutors were Dr. Richard Tolman, a mathematical and physical chemist who had influenced Einstein’s thinking on the physical dynamics of the universe, and Dr. J. Robert Oppenheimer, Groves’s lead scientist at Los Alamos.


Oppenheimer told Furman that any effort to collect intelligence on the German atomic program would begin by pinpointing the whereabouts of the country’s leading scientists. Find them, Oppenheimer said, and Furman would find the Nazi program. Furman made a list of every European scientist with credentials in the atomic field, a fairly simple task in so new and exclusive a discipline. Working with members of the OSS, he led missions to capture and interrogate every one of them.


For the next eighteen months, Furman proved himself intensely secretive, a quality Groves prized, and as unswerving as a bullet. Both traits cost Furman a woman he loved. When he entered the Manhattan Project, he was engaged to be married. But as he canvassed the world, he was unable to tell his fiancée where he was or what he was doing. Finally, the engagement was called off and the relationship melted away. He would later say his fiancée “suffered greatly.”


By the spring of 1945, there was no one in the world apart from Groves who knew more about every facet of the Manhattan Project than Robert Furman. Now, in April, the Alsos mission was accelerating. Furman and Goudsmit had missed Kurt Diebner at Stadtilm, but other Alsos agents were closing in on Werner Heisenberg, the top scientist on Furman’s list.


For Groves, the possibility of a German bomb had always been a matter of percentages. If there was even one chance in ten that the German program could produce a usable weapon, Groves was determined to obliterate it. Now that possibility had dwindled to a pinpoint, and the general was turning his attention to the mission he had long known would be the Manhattan Project’s ultimate endgame: to complete the world’s first atomic bombs and use them to end the war in the Pacific.
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MAY 1945


USS Indianapolis


Mare Island, California


ON MAY 2, CAPTAIN McVay spotted the Farallon islands, dark dollops of igneous rock that pierced the mist just thirty miles outside the Golden Gate Bridge. Indianapolis was almost home.


McVay was taking her to Mare Island shipyard, where he had first taken command in November 1944. The repair period was expected to stretch into months. With the war winding down fast, it seemed Indy wasn’t likely to see combat again. Still, armed forces recruiting continued apace, and McVay was slated to receive a slew of new sailors while in the yard. In all, about a third of the crew would turn over, and whatever the state of the war, these new men would need to be trained before the ship went back to sea. After yard workers repaired the damage inflicted by the kamikaze (and installed a few new bells and whistles), McVay planned to scoot down the coast to San Diego for some refresher training.


Indianapolis had gotten under way from Guam on April 15, after dropping two crew members for good: Harpo’s buddy, Mike Quihuis, and Marine Corporal Donald Miller, an orderly to Spruance and McVay. Quihuis had been invited to lead a boxing program for local kids on the island. He got McVay’s permission to accept, then packed his seabag and went ashore so quickly that he barely had time to say goodbye. Miller had volunteered to go help at an engineering facility. Most fellows knew that volunteering for anything in the military was a bad idea, but after the kamikaze strike Miller decided he wanted to get off the ship.


Down by two screws, Indy could only chug along en route to the States, but at least she was running under her own power. The freshwater evaporator was down. That meant drinking water was on rations and the crew had to make do with saltwater showers. At Kerama Retto, repair crews had been able to reduce the list to three degrees, but the men still felt as if they were walking in a funhouse all the way home.


Days out of Guam, grim news descended on the ship. President Franklin Roosevelt was dead. The loss of America’s longest-serving president was felt around the world, but aboard Indy, where the stewards had turned down his bed and served him his meals, it felt a little more personal. Captain McVay ordered a memorial service for Monday, April 16, 1945, at 4:30 in the afternoon. Father Conway presided, and Indy’s crew reflected on FDR’s legacy.


Roosevelt had been president for so long that he already occupied the Oval Office when the youngest of Indy’s crew were still in kindergarten. Some of her oldest hands remembered crossing the equator with Roosevelt aboard. “Crossing the line” was always a momentous event for “pollywog” sailors who had never ventured so far south. But that was the first time an American president ever served as King Neptune during the colorful initiation rite held topside, after which the “slimy wogs” were accepted into the order of “trusty shellbacks.” Roosevelt even signed their shellback certificates.


This man, who insisted that all people in all nations shared Americans’ entitlement to basic freedoms, was the same man who had sent this crew to war against the Nazis and the Japanese to defend those freedoms. Now he had passed on, and as the men of Indianapolis mourned him, the mantle of commander in chief passed to Harry S. Truman. A World War I combat veteran, the new president had a reputation as a man of moderate temperament and deep integrity.


During Indy’s passage home, another pair of deaths triggered celebration on the ship. First, news flashed across the world that Benito Mussolini was dead at the hands of partisan executioners. One U.S. newspaper reported that Il Duce’s corpse had been hung upside down from the rafters of a gas station and its face kicked until it was “a toothless, pulpy mass.” Then, about a week later, der Führer himself, Adolf Hitler, did the world a favor and shot himself in the head. When the news was announced on Indianapolis, cheers rang out all over the ship.


After Guam, with the war zone several hundred miles astern, the men began to relax. On April 22, Kasey Moore and a few other men, including the ship’s dentist, Earl Henry, shot trap off the fantail, using a hand trap and a shotgun. Several men proved to be sharp shots.


After reporting aboard Indianapolis at Saipan in 1944, Henry, who was from Knoxville, Tennessee, had been surprised to run into Moore. The two already knew each other: Moore, the former newspaperman, had profiled Henry for the Knoxville Sunday Journal way back in 1933. Already an ornithologist of note at just twenty-one, Henry was about to hang up his hobby of bird taxidermy in order to begin practicing dentistry. After mounting a collection of 137 specimens, Moore wrote, Henry was “going to quit stuffing birds to begin filling teeth.” The reason: Young Henry did not think people would patronize a dentist who handled dead birds in his spare time.


Still, Henry yearned for a creative outlet. He began sketching birds and soon could produce textbook-quality drawings in chalk and pencil. Later, he graduated to painting and began committing images to canvas—belted kingfishers, ruby-throated hummingbirds, purple gallinules. His work began as anatomically accurate and graduated to the quality of fine art. One of them, “An American Eagle in the Pacific,” was painted aboard Indy and reflected Henry’s sentiments on the war. In it, a fierce bald eagle spread his wings across a backdrop of the Stars and Stripes, its claw clutching a bloody serpent whose tail was wrapped in a tattered Japanese flag.


One officer told Henry that while he was a fine dentist, it would be his bird paintings that would make him famous. But not at the rate he was going now, Henry feared. His wife, Jane, was pregnant with their first child and due to give birth in August. Henry had waited longer than some men to start a family and it was practically all he talked about. He had not forgotten how to paint, but with the baby due soon, he felt an urgency to finish his magnum opus, a scale model of Indianapolis.


Around the ship, Henry’s model was famous. It was a precise duplicate of the real ship. Six feet long, this masterpiece perched on a peg that fastened it to a polished teak base. Henry had fashioned the hull and superstructure from a newer material called plastic and strung lifelines along rails formed from dental silver.


On the day of the trap shoot, McVay saw a large bird glide in on the sea breeze and land on the fo’c’sle. Birds were rare this far from land, and McVay could see that Henry was enchanted with the visitor, which had a long, snowy breast, chocolate wings, and webbed feet the color of robins’ eggs. As the dentist approached carefully, drawing to within an arm’s length, the bird seemed almost tame, sitting still and calmly picking its feathers.


Later, McVay phoned down to dental and asked Henry what kind of bird it was. A blue-footed booby, Henry said. McVay was surprised. Most of the men had thought it was an albatross, a sign of good luck.


•  •  •


At 6:19 a.m., the OOD directed the helmsman to enter the channel to San Francisco Bay and soon the ship passed under the Golden Gate Bridge. Not yet ten years old, the bridge was an engineering marvel, and passing under its signature red-orange expanse felt like a gathering in, a return to safe pasture. McVay looked forward to getting home to his wife, Louise. She was his second wife, after a marriage to Kinau Wilder, who was by marriage a Hawaiian aristocrat and the mother of his two sons, Charles B. McVay IV (known as “Quatro”) and Kimo Wilder McVay.


A descendant of the original Hawaii missionaries, Kinau had been a whirling socialite. By contrast, Louise Graham Claytor, the daughter of a prominent physician, was quiet, warm, and gentle. McVay met her while serving in Washington, D.C., as chairman of the Joint Intelligence Staff and courted her assiduously for a year. When he took command of Indy, they had been married for only a few months. During the ship’s brief stopover in Guam, McVay had run into Louise’s cousin, Lieutenant Commander W. Graham Claytor, captain of the destroyer escort USS Cecil J. Doyle. Now McVay was ready to get home and resume his honeymoon.


The wind clipped down the channel at twenty knots, but it was not of the brutal variety that usually leeched the warmth from a sunny San Francisco day. Visibility was unusually good, the city skyline crisp against a cloudless sky. At half past eleven, McVay directed his OOD to moor the ship port side to the Mare Island ammunition depot. The slim cruiser slid gently pierside and a line-handling detail passed down ropes thick as a man’s leg. Yard workers made fast the lines to bollards, mooring Indy to offload her ordnance.


Finally, on May 5, tugs nudged the ship gently through the dry dock gates. By 9 a.m., she was suspended in dry dock No. 2, her hull cradled in custom V-shaped keel blocks. Then the gates squealed shut and the water was pumped out, exposing all of Indy’s wounds.
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MAY 1945


Union Pacific Rail Line


Chicago, Illinois


KATHERINE MOORE SQUEEZED INTO the crowded dining car aboard the San Francisco Challenger, elated but exhausted. The Allies had just declared victory in Europe, and the headlines still blared in her head. In a nation exploding with champagne corks, confetti, and returning soldiers, it had been almost impossible to get a ticket on anything going anywhere. From Chicago, she had peppered her husband, Lieutenant Commander Kasey Moore, with a hail of telegrams. She had gotten a train . . . no, she got bumped . . . she had gotten a train . . . no, she got bumped. Finally, she managed to secure a seat on the Challenger, a Union Pacific/Southern Pacific line that had been upgraded to attract female passengers. But Katherine didn’t care about the lounge cars and porter service, only that this Challenger seemed to be the slowest train ever to crawl across a continent. At times she wanted to get out and push.


Mary Moore, Kasey’s eleven-year-old daughter by his first wife, would join Katherine and Kasey at Mare Island once school let out. Mary’s mother had abandoned the family when the girl was two years old, and neither Kasey nor Mary had seen her since. With her mother gone, Mary’s father became her whole world. Now, the war had left the girl in Katherine’s care.


An attendant came by. Katherine ordered lunch and thought about San Francisco. Kasey had written to say that he’d secured for them a “house” in the Mare Island Navy Yard, really one half of a furnished Quonset hut. The other half was occupied by a new ensign, John Woolston, and his wife.


The best piece of news—Kasey was to have twenty-one days’ leave.


Leave. Finally. Some time away from the other woman.


That was Katherine’s nickname for Indianapolis—and it was not without a salting of real jealousy. Moore had joined the ship in the Aleutian Islands in 1942, seven days after Katherine married him. Since then, their marriage had been a series of brief interludes snatched from Indy’s domineering schedule. Three months in the spring of 1943, and then that Christmas. A week in April of 1944, along with a week in November of the same year. That was all.


Two years into his tour, Moore was offered a transfer to another ship—Katherine had jokingly called it a newer, younger love—but Moore refused to leave his first love, the sleek, clipper-prowed mistress Indianapolis.


“When I’m with you,” he told Katherine, “my heart is filled with joy, and I wonder how I can ever leave you. But when I’m with her, she fills my mind. She is always there. You do understand, don’t you?”


Katherine did, but still eyed the other woman warily.


When she met Moore in college, she was an accomplished violinist with ambitions of her own. She wanted to learn to fly a plane, study at the Sorbonne and Juilliard, trek the sand around the pyramids by moonlight. Getting married was not a high priority. But when the war hit, Moore joined the naval reserve and life accelerated. With their futures now uncertain, securing their love suddenly eclipsed all else, and they made wedding plans.


At first, Moore was assigned to a public relations unit in Nashville, Tennessee. Katherine thought it was a wonderful assignment. Moore did not. One day, sitting on their front porch swing, he put his arm around her.


“I’ve applied for sea duty,” he said.


Katherine was incredulous. She pointed out that he was thirty-three years old and didn’t have to do that, being past the draft age.


“I don’t want my grandchildren to ask someday, ‘What did you do in the great war, Grandfather?,’ ” Moore said. “I don’t want to say, ‘I fought the war with a typewriter in Nashville, Tennessee.’ ”


“If you go to sea,” Katherine said, “you probably won’t have any grandchildren.”


In the Challenger dining car, she gazed out the window at America’s middle plains. The nation had defeated Germany, and judging by the news, was on the verge of defeating Japan. For reasons apart from war weariness, Katherine was ecstatic. There was a real possibility that the other woman would never carry away her husband again.


•  •  •


After drydocking his ship, McVay approved a series of rotating shore leave periods for the crew. Then he unpacked his gear at the Quonset hut he and Louise were to share on base. The honeymooners enjoyed quiet, precious hours at home and in the city, and McVay also managed to work in a fishing trip to the Russian River in Northern California.


Father Thomas Conway loaned Lew Haynes a few dollars so that the doctor could afford to go home and see his wife and kids. Then the priest used his own leave to travel the country, visiting the families of the nine men killed in the kamikaze strike. Conway had never behaved as a cloistered cleric aboard the ship, nor sequestered himself with officers, although he was an officer himself. The sailors thought of him as a man’s man who was willing to pitch in and get his hands dirty if the situation required it. That worked in Conway’s favor when he occasionally had to chide young sailors over their choices in life, or more often, for not writing often enough to their moms and dads back home.


Earl Henry’s approved leave period was coming up and he was rushing to finish his model. He was pleased with the way the details were coming together. There was a miniature bell where Indy’s real bell hung on the navigation bridge. Even the spud locker where the mess cooks stored the potatoes was fitted with a tiny copper screen. So finely crafted was this miniature Indianapolis that Captain McVay had once offered Henry a huge sum of money for it. But Henry wouldn’t sell the model at any price. It was to be a gift for his newborn son or daughter.


Harpo Celaya headed home to Florence, Arizona, and to Delores, a dark-eyed beauty who had caught his attention before he left for the Navy. Back then, Celaya had been larger than life, and when he went off to fight the war, he kept up an air of being above it all, even at the bloodiest battle of all, Iwo Jima. Now, though, Celaya had seen how short life could be, and he wanted to share it with someone special.


Glenn Morgan was ecstatic to be reunited with his best girl, Mertie Jo. On the other hand, Morgan’s bugler buddy Donald Mack beat him out for promotion to third class petty officer. Commander Johns Hopkins Janney, Indy’s navigator, put Mack ahead of Morgan even though Mack had previously failed the test twice. Morgan was steamed. But he thought he might know why Janney didn’t like him: Morgan was married and Janney wasn’t.


One day at Mare Island, Morgan asked Janney for special liberty. He didn’t have duty and wanted to go home and see Mertie Jo.


“No,” Janney said. “You married men think you’ve got rights that other people don’t.”


The commander was partly right. Morgan and Mertie Jo lived on base in a Quonset hut, while unmarried men like Janney had to quarter on the ship. But none of that should have had bearing on whether Morgan could go ashore. To get around Janney, Morgan had one of his friends made him a fake ID card so that the quarterdeck watch wouldn’t enter his real name in the log when he left the ship. It was a bit of skullduggery for a chance to see his wife, and McVay would discipline him for sure if he got caught. He didn’t.
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MAY 1945


Kure Naval Yard


Kure, Japan


BY MAY 1945, MOCHITSURA Hashimoto’s sub was never safe, even in home waters. On May 5, five days after he tied up at his pier in Kure harbor, the skies over the seaside prefecture filled with flashing silver plate and the deep, ominous thrum of American planes. A phalanx of B-29 Superfortress bombers skimmed over the base and emptied their bellies, projectiles streaking toward earth like raptors. The Hiro Naval Arsenal was destroyed, but I-58 and the remaining IJN sub fleet escaped damage.


The Americans’ new low-altitude bombing tactic was now well established. Before March, the Superfortress raiders had operated mainly at altitude, unleashing high-explosive bombs. But that changed when Major General Curtis LeMay retooled U.S. bombing tactics and tested his new doctrine with a low-altitude firebombing of Tokyo. The central target was Shitamachi, a locus of “shadow factories” that supplied materials to manufacturers of military aircraft. Shitamachi was also a downtown suburb of 750,000 people who lived in a warren of tightly packed wood-frame buildings. The attack had been like throwing torches into rice paper. The resulting blaze devoured sixteen square miles of the city and at least 80,000 souls. Since then, the enemy had sent nearly two thousand B-29s in eight separate raids, nearly all of them low-altitude firebombings. Hashimoto was watching his country literally go up in flames.


Meanwhile, the IJN’s kaiten-equipped submarines were proving an abysmal failure. Of the four kaiten subs sent to Okinawa, only half returned, including Hashimoto’s. Undeterred, the IJN had ordered a refit for I-58. Yard technicians were now removing her aircraft catapult and hangar so that she could carry six suicide torpedoes.


At the beginning of the war, Japan’s Navy ruled the Pacific. Hashimoto remembered lying in wait off the Hawaiian coast on December 6, 1941. He was torpedo officer aboard I-24 then, and the boat lay off Oahu, concealed beneath the obscuring blanket of the sea. Through the periscope, Hashimoto had seen lights twinkling along the shore, rows of lamps on an airport, and the neon signs at Waikiki. He could hear a radio and the music sounded to him like jazz.


The next day, December 7, more than 350 fighter-bombers from six Japanese carriers stormed Pearl Harbor. With I-24 at a depth of ninety feet, Hashimoto did not see the air attack. But the ocean beneath Japan’s first attack on America became dangerously turbulent, forcing I-24 to break the surface, shedding concealment and exposing her to potential attack. As he and the crew scrambled to resubmerge the boat, Hashimoto kept an eye on his watch, longing for sunset and the cover of night.


Later, the I-24 crew celebrated victory, but the truth was that Japan’s submarines had failed shamefully at Pearl Harbor. Now, during I-58’s Kure refit, Hashimoto was condemned to watch as America steadily carved up the remaining IJN fleet. The cascading failures angered Hashimoto, who had been fighting Japan’s naval leadership for material improvements to the sub fleet since 1943. By then, the Americans had equipped all their boats with radar while Japanese crews in the forward areas longed for radar as farmers long for rain. Radar would allow Hashimoto to travel quickly on the surface and give the crew enough time to dive when they detected enemy aircraft approaching. He thought it a disgraceful state of affairs and was frustrated that more of Japan’s resources had not been poured into scientific research. He felt that the struggle for sea supremacy had devolved into a fight between the blind and those who could see.


With other Japanese submariners, Hashimoto developed the view that one radar set would be more valuable than a hundred new submarines. For months in 1943, against protocol, he banged on doors and lobbied for the technology to make IJN sub warfare safer and more effective. All he got in return was approval for an allotment of one additional pair of binoculars. Disgusted, he chalked up his failure to interdepartmental rivalry and a headquarters staff that was more concerned with its image than with the safety of the men serving at the front.


Now two years had passed. Finally, IJN leaders had relented and installed radar, but not before Hashimoto watched many of his fellow sub commanders, including several he’d gone to school with, sent down to salty graves. During the Kure refit, workers fitted I-58 with Type 3 sonar and relocated her Type 22 radar to a pedestal in front of the conning tower. But when I-58 put to sea again, Hashimoto suspected that the improvements to his submarine had come too late.
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JUNE 1945


USS Indianapolis


Mare Island, California


EARL HENRY COULD HARDLY believe it: He’d missed the birth of his son by five days. After spending time with Jane in Mayfield, Kentucky, he’d boarded a westbound train on June 13 and returned to Mare Island. Five days later, Earl Junior was born—nearly two months early!


Henry had been excited about the prospect of becoming a father, but he never dreamed he would be so exuberant at the news. On June 30, he received his first letter from Jane since they became parents. He read it three times and could hardly wait for another one. The best news of all was that Jane had some photographs taken of the baby and was sending him prints in the mail. The preliminary report from Henry’s father-in-law was that little Earl looked like a Republican.


Henry had hoped to finish his Indianapolis model before going home, but that hadn’t happened so it was still aboard the ship. One evening in June, Kasey Moore asked him to bring it to the wardroom. The ship’s officers often hosted their wives for dinner there, and Moore wanted the new families to see the replica ship. Moore’s wife, Katherine, thought Henry’s model was the most beautifully crafted thing she’d ever seen.


She told Henry that Kasey’s parents lived in Knoxville. “Why don’t you let me take it home for you?”


Moore chimed in. “I could pack it up so it could make the trip without a scratch.”


Henry smiled and shook his head. “Thank you, but it’s a gift for my son. When I detach from Indy, I’m flying home and I want to take it myself.”


It seemed that day might come quickly. Officers around him speculated that the war would be over in less than six months. Henry thought it might last a bit longer, but not so long that he would miss very much of little Earl’s childhood. Since reporting to Indy, he had written to Jane about everything he did and saw—the phosphorescence of plankton churning in the ship’s night wake . . . showering in a warm island rain because it was the only way to get a freshwater shower . . . the way clear saltwater bubbled up in the island tidal pools then receded to reveal starfish and tiny crabs and little jewel-colored fish that fed at his feet. He wouldn’t trade what he’d seen during his naval service, but now he wanted more than anything to get back to Tennessee, to enjoy the simple routines of home and hearth. He told Jane that if the Navy offered him a permanent position, he’d turn it down so fast her head would spin.


•  •  •


As anxious as Henry was to get home, Ensign John Woolston was glad to be aboard. Since reporting, he’d prowled the passageways on a mission: memorize Indianapolis. Every frame, beam, deck plate, tank, and machinery space. Every repair locker, damage control station, door, hatch, and dog. The twenty-year-old ensign, with a slim face, angular jaw, and serious brown eyes, had made it his business to know the ship better than any man aboard. So he stalked the decks, stopping to gaze at “bulls eyes”—hyphenated alphanumerics stenciled on the bulkheads that marked deck number, frame number, relation to ship’s centerline, and the function of a given compartment—and log them in the near-photographic catalog that was his brain.
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